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I am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2017.
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2017
was HK$1,112.9 million (2016: HK$1,894.5 million), a decrease of
41% compared to the year before. The profit attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to HK$2,054.1 million (2016: HK$5,713.0
million), representing a decrease of 64% from 2016.

The decrease in profit for the year was mainly due to a lower
contribution from disposal of non-core assets and the absence of
a large one-off gain from a bargain purchase of an interest in a
Hong Kong listed subsidiary, Asiasec Properties Limited. For 2017,
disposal of non-core assets contributed HK$1,634.0 million (2016:
HK$3,937.7 million). By increasing its stake in an Australian listed
company, Tian An Australia Limited, at a discount to the stated net
asset value, the Group also recorded a gain of HK$60.9 million in
2017 (2016: HK$1,588.6 million).

Earnings per share amounted to HK$1.36 (2016: HK$3.79), while the
net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$15.55 at the end of 2017 (2016: HK$14.28).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has declared an
interim dividend of HK20 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend)
for the year ended 31st December, 2017 (2016: Nil) payable on or
around Friday, 20th April, 2018 to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Friday, 6th April, 2018.

For the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Board declared a
special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034
shares in Asiasec Properties Limited (“ASL Shares”) on the basis of 13
ASL Shares for every 100 shares of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1

(2)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in lieu
of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2017,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 4th April, 2018 to Friday, 6th April, 2018 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order for a Shareholder to qualify
for the interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend), all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries
Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
3rd April, 2018.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“2018 AGM”)

The 2018 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 23rd
May, 2018. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote
at the 2018 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 17th May, 2018 to Wednesday,
23rd May, 2018 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order for
a Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2018 AGM,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 16th May, 2018.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of apartments,
villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property investment
and property management on the mainland in the People’s Republic
of China, as well as property investment and property management in

Hong Kong.

An outline of our achievements in 2017 is described below:

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

We have continued to dispose of non-core assets.

Total attributable registered sales (including sales from joint
ventures and pre-sales of properties under construction) of the
Group amounted to 203,300 m2 in 2017 (2016: 365,100 m?), a
decrease of 44%. A total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 284,700 m2 (2016: 250,400 m2) was completed,
an increase of 14% from last year. For 2017, a total attributable
GFA of approximately 902,700 m2 (2016: 1,119,500 m?) was
under construction at the year end, representing a 19% decrease
over the last year.

Rental income was up by 17% as compared with 2016, due
mainly to the contribution from the Hong Kong listed subsidiary
and the newly acquired London hotel.

Cyberpark: There are a total of 15 cyberparks over 12 cities. The
overall contribution of our cyberpark unit has increased, with
sales and leasing improving in most of our cyberparks.

Those on the Pearl River Delta have been contributing most and
we will concentrate on developing new cyberparks and urban
renewal projects in this region where we have ample manpower
and marketing resources.

Phase 2 of Tian An’s urban renewal project, Tian An Cloud Park,
in Huawei New City Area in the Longgang District of Shenzhen,
with GFA of approximately 599,400 m? is under construction and
expected to be completed in 2018.

For the year ended 31st December, 2017, Asiasec Properties
Limited reported a profit of HK$169.2 million (2016: HK$61.8
million) attributable to its shareholders.
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PLANS FOR 2018

Objectives for 2018 are as follows:

(1) We will continue to adjust the quality of our landbank through
acquisitions and disposals and sale of our end products to
balance the demands of short term returns and long term capital
appreciation.

(2) We will adjust our products and pricing as well as the speed of
construction where necessary to assist the sale of our products in
the current environment.

(3) We hope to responsibly gear up our projects rather than over-
utilising equity in order to increase our return on equity.

(4) We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

LONG TERM CORPORATE STRATEGIES

(1) The Group will retain certain development properties for
investment where we believe these properties will provide
increasing rental streams and corresponding increases in capital
value.

(2) We will concentrate our effort on developing our cyberpark and
urban renewal units where we believe our products are welcomed
by the government and the local market.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group’s main business market is mainland China, where there
have been various measures by the authorities to regulate the high
housing demand and cool down the overheated property market, so
as to restore a healthy and stable property market. In Hong Kong,
where there is a shortage in the supply of land resulting in record land
prices, the Group’s controlling interest in Asiasec Properties Limited
will help to mitigate the effects of Renminbi asset fluctuations.
Although, it is expected that global market interest rates will go up
in 2018 and may induce an adverse impact on the property market,
we are confident of the long term prospects of the property market in
mainland China and Hong Kong.
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EE) APPRECIATION

RAEHROBEHSESNETRBE—FE | would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and
BREZEHREAEE 2 BE - WS the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past
KA RIS UREPZEE - year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to

the customers for their trust.

EFEE Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FHE Managing Director

B Z_E-NF=A+XH Hong Kong, 16th March, 2018
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment, associate and joint venture investments in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) constituted the most significant source of
revenue to the Group. An analysis is as follows:

(1) Property developments

Revenue derived from property development of the Group (including
subsidiaries but excluding associates and joint ventures) decreased
from HK$1,362.1 million to HK$495.6 million compared with
2016. Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted of
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2), Nantong Tian An Garden (Phases
4 and 5) and Wuxi The Manhattan (Phases 1 and 2).

(2) Property investments

During the year, due mainly to the contribution from the Hong Kong
listed subsidiary and the newly acquired London Hotel led to rental
income of the Group increase from HK$396.7 million to HK$463.2

million, representing an increase of approximately 16.8%.

(3) Associate and joint venture investments

2017 2016
FTERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000

AR Contribution to profit:
FEARE R ER Share of profit of associates 99,148 12,169
EhEELERT Share of profit of joint ventures 253,219 89,984
352,367 102,153
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2. XFEHE 2. MAJOR SALES

HE-ZT—+F+-A=+—HILEE > K&  For the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group’s sales activities
EHHEEEE(BEREAELENEENE  (including sales from joint ventures and pre-sales of properties

BHEYENTEES)EZEFELNTIER ¢ under development) were concentrated principally on the following
projects:
PEtL
HEREEE
Attributable
GFA sold
1HH Project A& Use 75 5Kk m?
FEIIREZEAN(—E]) Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 1) EES Commercial 8,100
BINEB XL 2 ES Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Lift City = Residential 23,800
(—Hk=H) (Phases 1 & 2)
SRR LB Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park [HES Commercial 12,900
(—H#) (Phase 1)
SER T Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 3 to 5) %,  Commercial/ 12,600
(ZH=nH) = Residential
BMR L& BEERHXRE Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech %,  Commercial/ 17,500
(REAE=NH) Ecological Park (Phases 6 to 8) F= Residential
IR BB Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park [HES Commercial 15,200
(RE k) (Phases 6 & 7)
EHERE(—HR=H) Wuxi The Manhanttan (Phases 1 & 2) = Residential 9,100
BINKLRIE(Z5) Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2) F= Residential 6,200
LR KL EE I (—H) Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1) m%¥,  Commercial/ 6,600
F= Residential
EINKZEHIEMR (—H & =8) Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park m¥,  Commercial/ 21,800
(Phases 1 & 2) F= Residential
MBRLEE(MEI R A ) Nantong Tian An Garden (Phases 4 & 5) F= Residential 6,500
BEERTHENH Chongging Tian An Cyber Park ¥,  Commercial/ 12,800
(—HKk—H1) (Phases 1 & 2) F=x Residential
RERLZE W Changchun Tian An City One F= Residential 12,600
(MEA—#Z==4) (Phase 4 Parts 1 to 3)
SERZEIH(—H) Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1) %,/  Commercial/ 24,700
= Residential
RERZHEN(=H) Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 3) = Residential 7,100
HIAH Other projects g%,  Commercial/ 5,800
F= Residential

203,300
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3. LAND PORTFOLIO

The Group currently has a landbank of total GFA of approximately
9,583,000 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is approximately
6,196,500 m?, consisting of approximately 683,100 m?2 of completed
investment properties and approximately 5,513,400 m? of properties
under development and for development), located mainly in Shanghai,
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Huizhou, Dongguan, Foshan, Chongqing,
Nantong, Wuxi, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Nanjing, Changchun, Dalian,
Tianjin, Qingdao, Hong Kong, Australia and United Kingdom.

As at 31st December, 2017, the Group’s land portfolio principally
consisted of the following:

(1) Properties under development and for development

REEEAE

EHEE

GFA

[GES x= attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

& Region FJ7K m? F 75K m? F 753K m?

SEM Australia 53,700 1,060,500 1,114,200

=k Northern China 631,900 545,400 1,177,300

FER Eastern China 1,274,300 478,500 1,752,800

g Southern China 871,000 598,100 1,469,100

4 Total 2,830,900 2,682,500 5,513,400
2 EEIREYF (2) Completed investment properties

REEBEEAE

BEHEE

GFA

[GES b2 attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

ih & Region FEHK m? FHK m? FH K m?

HE United Kingdom 6,100 - 6,100

BB Hong Kong 38,000 4,300 42,300

#if Northern China 93,500 23,100 116,600

FER Eastern China 278,900 73,600 352,500

g Southern China 139,800 25,800 165,600

Bzt Total 556,300 126,800 683,100
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

The Group always maintained its liquidity at a healthy level with
a balanced portfolio of financial resources. As at 31st December,
2017, the total bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were
approximately HK$4,969.0 million (2016: HK$4,599.9 million),
providing sufficient working capital for the daily operations of the
Group.

As at 31st December, 2017, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$4,399.4 million (2016: HK$3,736.0
million), including current liabilities of HK$885.8 million (2016:
HK$1,284.7 million) and non-current liabilities of HK$3,513.6
million (2016: HK$2,451.3 million). The gearing ratio (net debt over
total equity) of the Group was negative of 2% (2016: negative of
4%). The borrowings were mainly used to finance the properties for
development and properties under construction. Decrease in finance
costs is mainly due to the decrease in market interest rates.

Approximately 40% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will
mature within 2 years. Since most of the investments and operation of
the Group are carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency.
Around 86% of the Group’s borrowings bear interest at fixed rates
while the remainders are at floating rates.

Due to maintaining flexible and sufficient cashflow for acquiring
the potential quality landbank and accelerating construction works
for our development projects, the Group intends to obtain proper
bank borrowings with reasonable pricing terms. The management
continuously monitors its gearing ratio and raises new external
borrowings when necessary.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to
cater for its recurring operating activities and present and potential
investment activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable
exchange rate exposure. However, the Group will closely monitor this
risk exposure as required.
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Pledge on Assets

As at 31st December, 2017, bank deposits of HK$186.2 million,
aggregate carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
development properties and investment properties of approximately
HK$168.2 million, HK$5,183.1 million and HK$8,825.1 million
respectively, were pledged for banking facilities granted to the
Group, mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and guarantees
in respect of utility supplies and government authorities for the
development works.

Contingent Liabilities

A portion of a property for development that is held by a joint venture
with carrying value of approximately HK$2.6 million is under idle
land investigation by the local authority. The piece of land owned by
the joint venture was held under several land use right certificates.
The development of more than half of the piece of land was either
completed or under development, except for a portion which is
retained for the remaining development of the whole project. Another
property for development that is held by a subsidiary of the Group
with carrying value of approximately HK$36.4 million is under idle
land investigation by the local authority. This piece of land owned
by the subsidiary has been developed by several phases and more
than half was completed, except the last portion which is under
the planning approval by the local authority. Further, property for
development that is held by another joint venture of the Group
with carrying value of approximately HK$757.7 million had been
identified as idle land by the local authority. The construction
works for the first phase of development is in progress. The Group is
currently working diligently to prevent the possible classification as
idle land for those under idle land investigation and taking remedy
action to prevent from prosecution for those identified as idle land,
including negotiating the feasibility of development plans with local
authorities. Based on legal advices, the Group has assessed the issue
and considers that the idle land confiscation can be reversed.

As at 31st December, 2017, guarantees given to banks in respect of
mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and bank facilities
granted to or utilised by the joint ventures as well as guarantees
granted in respect of utility supplies and government authorities
for the property development works amounted to approximately
HK$1,652.5 million. All the guarantees provided by the Group were
requested by banks and under normal commercial terms. Legal
action were taken against the Group resulting in possible contingent
liabilities of approximately HK$11.0 million. The Group has assessed
the claims and obtained legal advices, and considers that the final
outcome of the claims will not have material effect on the financial
position of the Group.
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PROJECT REVIEW

1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS
Southern China

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m? with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m2. The
Cyber Park consists of industrial buildings, office and commercial
buildings, cyber technology buildings, deluxe residential apartments
and multifunction clubhouse in an “Urban Industrial Complex”.

The lettable commercial GFA is 49,230 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building, Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park has expanded its successful pattern to
other cities, including Guangzhou Panyu, Foshan Nanhai, Dongguan,
Shenzhen Longgang, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Tianjin, Chongging and
Qingdao, so as to develop into a group company.

For accomplishing the upgrade industries transformation and urban
renewal of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park plans to have
area upgrade and redevelopment. The total GFA of the Park will
increase accordingly.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project has a
site area of approximately 118,850 m2 and total GFA of approximately
454,400 m2. The model of Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park is used to
develop this project. Phase 4 with GFA of approximately 44,500 m? is
under construction and expected to be completed in 2018.

Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (50%)

This project is a “Model project of urban renewal” and located in
Huawei New City Area, Longgang District, Shenzhen. Shenzhen Tian
An Cloud Park will have a site area of approximately 760,000 m? and
plan to have a total GFA of approximately 2,800,000 m2. . The project
is planned to be developed into a combination of new technology
and a modern city complex, including industrial R&D, commercial,
residential and apartments properties. Construction work for Phase 1
with a GFA of approximately 531,600 m? (including basement) was
completed, Phase 2 with GFA of approximately 599,400 m2 is under
construction and expected to be completed in 2018.
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Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (39%)

Situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng District of
Dongguan. Upon acquiring the land nearby the project in 2012,
it covers land area of approximately 278,987 m? with total GFA of
approximately 823,100 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phase
5 with GFA of approximately 95,200 m? was completed in 2017 and
Phase 6 with GFA of approximately 82,400 m? are under construction
and expected to be completed in 2018.

Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (45.05 %)

Located in Fenggang Town of Dongguan, this project has a site
area of approximately 172,796 m?2 and total GFA of approximately
518,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed into a
comprehensive commercial/industrial composite. Phase | with GFA of
approximately 102,300 m2 is under construction and expected to be
completed in 2018.

Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (25 %)

Located in Songshan Lake of Dongguan, with a site area of
approximately 98,158 m?2 and a total GFA of approximately 176,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/Industrial composite. Phase 1 with GFA of approximately
84,800 m? is under construction and expected to be completed in
2018.

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large scale
project has a site area of 513,088 m? and a total GFA of approximately
712,500 m2. The park development consists of industrial/office
buildings, science and technology buildings, highclass residential
buildings and multi-function clubhouse.

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (45%)

Located in Guicheng of Nanhai. Upon acquiring the land nearby the
project in 2012, it covers site area of approximately 165,252 m? and
total GFA of approximately 479,000 m2. This project is developing
with the similar pattern as Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park and planned
to develop into a business district with hotel/office buildings. Phase
8 with GFA of approximately 49,100 m? was completed in 2017 and
Phase 9 with GFA of approximately 93,300 m? are under construction
and expected to be completed in 2018.
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Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (100%)

Located in Huiyang of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Danshui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 393,570 m? and
total GFA of approximately 783,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite.
Since the local government had modified the surrounding planning
of the land, the master planning for property development had been
modified accordingly. Phase 1 Part 2 and Phase 2 with GFA of
approximately 157,300 m2 were completed in 2017.

Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (99.99%)

This project is situated at the Golden Honggiao District where the
oriental and international residents like to reside and adjacent to
the entrance of the transit station of Subway No. 9. The project
will be developed to a deluxe residential district with a site area
of approximately 338,113 m? and a total GFA of approximately
494,400 m2. Construction work of Phase 1 with total GFA of
approximately 159,400 m2 was completed.

Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be
built along the 1,100 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area of
approximately 58,930 m2. This project has been re-planned as
a commercial and entertainment complex. Design planning has
been approved. Construction work of Phase 1 with total GFA of
approximately 62,700 m?2 is under construction and expected to be
completed in 2018.

Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (100%)

This project is located in Wuxi New District, with a site area of
approximately 118,330 m? and a total GFA of approximately
236,100 m2. The project is planned to be developed into integrated
business park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. The construction of Phase 1
Part 1 with a GFA of approximately 107,200 m2 was completed and
under leasing and sales.
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Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 203,061 m? and a total GFA of
approximately 578,700 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 2 Part 2 with
a residential GFA of approximately 55,400 m2 is expected to be
completed in 2018.

Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in the Wujin District, the planning and
development focus of the Changzhou government. With a favorable
location, it is one of the largest deluxe villa districts in Changzhou.
The project occupies a site of 473,335 m2.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area with a site area of approximately 92,766 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 210,100 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 3
with a GFA of approximately 25,000 m? is expected to be completed
in 2018.

Nanjing La Vita (60%)

This project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, with a
site area of approximately 5,012 m? and a total GFA of approximately
19,200 m2, the project is planned to be developed a commercial

building.
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nantong Gangzha Economic Development
Zone, with a site area of approximately 160,367 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 398,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings and commercial composite. Construction work
of Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of approximately 23,900 m? is expected
to be completed in 2018.
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Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Jiangyin Economic Development Zone,
Jiangsu, with a site area of approximately 173,200 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 363,700 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phase
1 office and residential with a GFA of approximately 145,600 m? was
completed and under leasing and sales.

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park is located in commercial centre area
of Dadukou District, Chongqing, with a site area of approximately
357,800 m? and a total GFA of approximately 894,900 m?. The
project is planned to be developed into integrated business park with
comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 3 of office and commercial buildings
with a GFA of approximately 50,800 m? is under construction and
expected to be completed in 2018.

Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (60%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in the
Dalian Economic & Technology Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 84,100 m2 have been completed.
Master plan for Phase 3 is waiting for approval.

Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high-class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,954 m?, the project with a total GFA of
approximately 413,100 m? is being developed by stages. Construction
work for Phase 4, Part 2 and Part 3 with a total GFA of 97,800 m? are
expected to be completed in 2018.

Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Zhangjiawo Industrial Zone, Xiging District,
Tianjin, with a site area of approximately 312,280 m?2 and a total GFA
of approximately 513,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phases2
and 4 with a GFA of approximately 96,300 m? are under construction
and expected to be completed in 2018.
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Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (50%)

This project is located in Dongli District, Tianjin, with a site area
of approximately 582,000 m? and a total GFA of approximately
1,319,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Construction work for Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 246,600 m? is under construction and expected to be
completed in 2018.

Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Chengyang District, Qingdao, with a site
area of approximately 313,466 m? and a total GFA of approximately
522,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Construction work of Phase 1 at sites B and C
with a GFA of approximately 78,800 m2 is under construction and
expected to be completed in 2018.

Australia
Western Australia Point Grey Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Western Australia Point Grey, with a site area
of approximately 2,751,864 m2and a total GFA of approximately
1,442,000 m2. The development application for stage 1 has been
approved. The project has also obtained the Commonwealth/
State Government bilateral approvals for the marina and terrestrial
developments and is currently seeking to extend the marina approval
with the Western Australia State Government.

New South Wales Enfield Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Enfield, New South Wales, with a site area
of approximately 12,619 m2and a total GFA of approximately
10,700 m2. The project is planned to be converted into residential
dwellings. The planning proposal has been submitted to the regulatory
bodies.
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2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to
the entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1T and 2. It
is a 30-storey Grade A commercial building with a total GFA of
48,910 m2. 24,940 m? were sold, 1,620 m? were self-occupied and
the remaining GFA of 22,350 m2 have been transferred to property
investment. Most of the tenants are multinational companies. The
occupancy rate is more than 75%.

Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and 6
International Schools. The properties include (1) 262 apartments with
68,660 m?; (2) a clubhouse with 10,600 m? and ancillary facilities;
(3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m?; and (4) 218 storage rooms
with 979 m2. This project is leased property. Most of the tenants are
overseas top management from multinational companies.

Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, the
most flourishing shopping district in Nanjing City. The building links
up to the subway station. The shopping arcades with a GFA of 66,400
m?2 have been leased to a department store. The office building with
a GFA of approximately 10,700 m2 have been transferred to property
investment.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The
total GFA is 67,210 m2. This 52-storey building is the tallest landmark
building of Dalian. 14,790 m? were sold, the remaining GFA have
been transferred to property investment.

Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m2.
Approximately half of the total number of units have been sold and
the remaining units kept for leasing purpose.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B /IM74.96%/59.97 %/29.99 %)
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Harbour Crystal Centre (74.96%/59.97 %/29.99 %)

Located at Tsimshatsui East, the heart of Kowloon, the shopping
arcade with a GFA of approximately 13,700 m? as an investment
property recorded an average occupancy of 99.27% and the
performance of the rental income was satisfactory.

The Redhill Peninsula (24.99%)

It was built at a round-shaped peninsula situated in Southern District
of Hong Kong towards Tai Tam Harbour and Turtle Cove comprising
of townhouses and apartments.

During 2017, 3 houses and 13 apartments were successfully sold out.
Remaining stocks of 41 houses will be launched for sales in batches
in 2018.

Harbour Industrial Centre and Oceanic Industrial Centre (24.99%)

The two industrial buildings with total GFA of approximately 93,630 m?
located at Ap Lei Chau recorded an average occupancy rate of
62.88%. With the opening of South Island Line of MTR, it is expected
the region becomes more accessible.

Queen’s Centre (37.48%)

Located at Wanchai, a prime district of Hong Kong Island, the total
retail and office spaces of approximately 2,550 m? recorded an
average occupancy of 97.26%.

Wah Shun Industrial Building (37.48%)

An industrial building located at Yau Tong with total GFA of
approximately 12,470 m? recorded an average occupancy of 87.22%.

3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Dongguan Long Island Golf & Country Club (75 %)

Built on a site area of approximately 999,990 m? having a 27-hole
golf, driving range, club houses, members’ lodge and other amenity
facilities. The golf course and club are currently in operation.

London South Place Hotel (100%)

Situated at 3/4 South Place, London, the United Kingdom. The
property leased to South Place Hotel Limited comprises an 80
bedroom luxury boutique hotel with ancillary facilities arranged over
basement, ground and seven upper floors with a total net internal area
of approximately 6,100 m2.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

BRR  EEIR &8

TREAER BEER  REER R
Buildable BREE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
BERER HEER R Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhRm Thxm:  FHAm
RIRZEBUE A% P IRR
AT EHE - =R 118,850 Commercial 454,400 Phased 269,300 44,500 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang =——— Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Huangge Road North,
Longgang District, Shenzhen
MIRRER(-BR=H) Bx DEBTIER
AT - e - R 138,161 Commercial 883,100 Phased 414100 469,000 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park BE Construction
(Phases 1 and 2) Dormitory 130,400  Stage - 130,400 50%
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen
1,013,500 414,100 599,400
RERZHES A% HEBIER
Rm - BHE REHIE 278987 Commercial 739,000  Phased 335,900 82,400 39%
Dongguan Tian An [f= Construction
Cyber Park Residential 84,100  Stage 84,100 - 39%
No. 1, Huangjin Road, -
Nancheng District, Dongguan 823,100 420,000 82,400
RERHAZYES A% AEBIER
R=m - BEE EOH 172,79 Commercial 518,400  Phased 102,300 - 4505%
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An ———— Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Yan Tian Village,
Fenggang Town, Dongguan
REBRAZEAERE [E DHmIER
RETRE ST RAT %A 98,158 Commercial 176,700  Phased - 84,800 25%
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park —— Construction
North of South Industrial Road, Stage
Songshan Lake North Industrial City,
Dongguan
RNRREEHRNEE A% PR IRR
BT - EBE - DBH7305 513,088 Commercial 667,200  Phased 571,500 - 50%
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu ft= Construction
Hi-Tech Ecological Park Residential 45300 Stage 45,300 - 50%
No. 730, Yingbin Road, -
Panyu District, Guangzhou 712,500 616,800 _
BURRERHES A% AHBTER
o - AR - BYHEIS 165,252 Commercial 479,200  Phased 385,900 93,300 45%
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park ——— Construction
No. 1, Jianping Road, Stage
Nanhai District, Foshan
ENERARETRS ARREE DB IRE
B BHE - KKE 393570 Commercial & 783,000  Phased 184,800 - 100%
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Residential — Construction
Danshui Town, Huiyang District, Stage

Huizhou
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BRR  EEIE &E

TREAER BEER  REER AR
Buildable HRHEE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
HEA# tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held hy
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
THRm? THAm? Thxm  Fhkm
LBXZEE fr= DERIKE
L BiE - BER 338,113 Residential 421,800 Phased 140,600 - 99.99%
TEE IR KERAX Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & 72,600 Stage 18,800 - 99.99%
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Commercial
Caobao Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai 494,400 159,400 _
LERZEX*E (EES AEBIER
LiEm BRE - Ak 58930 Commercial 176900  Phased - 62,700 100%
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine ——————— Construction
Peninsula Stage
Changhua Road, Putuo District,
Shanghai
LERZEE(=HGS) WEREX BIRR
L& - SER1028% 3,600 Ancillary & 500 Construction - 500 100%
Shanghai Central Garden Commercial ——— Stage
(Phase 3 GS)
No. 1028, Jinxiu Road, Shanghai
g [EE Rk
LD RIERIIXERE 185,590 Commercial 296,900 KR - - 30%
Shanghai Songjing Site ——— Planning &
West Phase, Songjiang Industrial Zone, Design Stage
Songjiang District, Shanghai
BERZESN [ HEmIER
£5m  BHTE 118330 Commercial 236,100 Phased 107,200 - 100%
#2285 ———— (onstruction
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Stage
No. 228, Linghu Road,
Wuxi New District, Wuxi
ENRZHES EEH PERIKE
B RERTRTEEFRRE 203,061 Commercial 338,800  Phased 164,300 - 50%
R85 fr= Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 187,700  Stage 132,400 55,400 50%
No. 588, Wunan Road,
Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, 526,500 296,700 55,400
Changzhou
ENRRRIZ ffx PERIKE
FEER - BAERL 473335 Residential 137,900 Phased 93,000 - 100%
Changzhou Tian An Villa = (onstruction
No. 2, Fengyuan Road, Stage

Wujin District, Changzhou
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BRR  EEIR &8

TREAER BEER  REER R
Buildable BREE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
HE A tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held hy
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
THRm? T Am? Thxm:  FHAm
HRARHEN [EES AEBIER
B OLER 92,766 Commercial 210,100 Phased 86,600 25,000 100%
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park = (onstruction
Guanghua Road, Nanjing Stage
HRRIE [5E BIRR
ARAMZABRIHR 5,012 Commercial 19,200  Construction - 19,200 60%
Nanjing La Vita = Sfage
Changjiang Road, Xuanwu District,
Nanjing
HRRRHEN EES AEBIER
i - AERRE 160,367 Commercial 398,200  Phased 89,700 23,900 100%
R =———— (onstruction
Nantong Tian An Cyher Park Stage
South of Changping Road and East of
Yongtong Road, Nantong
TERZHES EE PEBTIEE
TE™ - RILAESSH 173,200 Commercial 228,700 Phased 81,000 - 50%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park i Construction
No. 55, Changshan Road, Jiangyin Residential 135,000  Stage 04,600 - 50%
363,700 145,600 -
ERRRHEN [EES HERIER
M ARNE FEHR 357,800 Commercial 586,100 Phased 189,500 50,800 50%
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park fr= Construction
Chunhui Road, Dadukou District, Residential 308,800  Stage 85,600 - 50%
Chongging
894,900 275,100 50,800
RERZERIE % HHmIER
KER  ARRRIRERE 58650 Residential 122,100 Phased 84,100 - 60%
A ——————— Construction
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Stage
Liaohe Road West, Economic & Technical
Development Zone, Dalian
RERZE - ARREE o
RED - EAAH6615% 414954 Commercial & 413,100 Phased 238,600 97,800 100%
Changchun Tian An City One Residential ——— Construction

No. 661, Guigu Street, Changchun Stage
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

xR HRIE 5B
TREAER BEER  REER AR
Buildable HRHEE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
HEA# tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held hy
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhAm Thxm  Fhkm
RERZHES [EE DERIKE
RET BEE  AZRIH 312280 Commercial 215,900 Phased 119,600 96,300 50%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park [f= Construction
No. 1 Tianan Road, Xiging District, Tianjin Residential 298,000  Stage 98,800 - 50%
513,900 218,400 96,300
RERZESH B% HEmIER
Kt - REE 582,000 Commercial 934,400 Phased - 185800 50%
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port ff= Construction
Dongli District, Tianjin Residential 385,000 Stage - 60,800 50%
1,319,400 - 246,600
EBRENEM Az HEBTER
BEM  HGE - AR 313,466 Commercial 328,000 Phased 94,000 13,700 50%
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park £ Construction
No. 88, Chunyang Road, Residential 194900 Stage 83,700 65,100 50%
Chengyang District, -
Qingdao 522,900 177,700 78,800
RN Point Grey #3 fr= RER
R - Point Grey * 2,751,864 Residential 1,372,000  gathes - - 76.70%
Carrabungup Road * MBRE% Planning &
138+ 139+ 672711132 Ancillary & 70,000 Design Stage - - 76.70%
Western Australia Point Grey Site Commercial
Lots 138, 139, 672 & 1132,
Carrabungup Road,
Point Grey, 1,442,000 - -
Western Australia
HERES  REREMR i RER
HEFES - AR 12619 Residental 10700 HaHlaek - - T7670%
Mitchell Street 45 Planning &
New South Wales Enfield Site Design Stage
4 Mitchell Street, Enfield
New South Wales
Hist - Note:

ERBE-T T F+ A=t RAZERRESR -

The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2017.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

SEEL
BEEE
Gross Bt IEH
BEEDR EEfEER Floor Area Estimated
R Gross Interest Held Attributable Completion
Project Name Floor Area by the Group to the Group Year
FAKm? FHAm?
1. FIRLEAN(=H) 599,400 50% 299,700 2018
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 2)
2. RYIRZREREIEH (M) 44,500 50% 22,200 2018
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (Phase 4)
3. BILAZEEHBERALTL(ZH) 93,300 45% 42,000 2018
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
Tian An Centre (Phase 3)
4. RERTZEEM(SH) 82,400 39% 32,100 2018
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 6)
5. REBRAREAEXR(—H-H#) 84,800 25% 21,200 2018
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park
(Phase 1 Part 1)
6. LHRZGAF¥E(ER) 62,700 100% 62,700 2018
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula
(Western Phase)
7. LBXRZER(ZH) 500 100% 500 2018
Shanghai Central Garden (Phase 3)
8. mRERIZ 19,200 60% 11,500 2018
Nanjing La Vita
9. FRAREEEM (M) 25,000 100% 25,000 2018
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 4)
10. EBRTHEN(—HH) 23,900 100% 23,900 2018
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 Part 2)
1. BMREEME (= H=8) 55,400 50% 27,700 2018
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 2 Part 2)
12. EERZHHM(=H) 50,800 50% 25,400 2018
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 3)
13. RERZE—W(WEH— ZkR=4#) 97,800 100% 97,800 2018
Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Parts 1, 2 and 3)
14, RERLHEAH(ZH - =#RkmE) 96,300 50% 48,200 2018
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 2, 3 and 4)
15, RERLBER(—H) 246,600 50% 123,300 2018
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (Phase 1)
16. EERTHMEH(—H) 78,800 50% 39,400 2018
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
B
Total: 1,661,400 902,600

Hfit - EREBE-ZE—+F+_A=+—H2z&K 4% - Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2017
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

1. M
PROPERTY
£HAL
n= BE L3 BEER
BEER BEER Fift iz GFA
MELR Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable A%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group  Use
FIKm? FoKm? FJ3Km?
AR ZEBH
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park N
—i%ﬂllﬁﬁé‘l%ﬁ$4¥§ﬁﬁ?i%—%ﬁ 10,540 - 50% 5270 BELBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 1
— AR Z AR RS — 4 4,400 - 50% 2200 FERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 2
—RYFBERAR 20,530 - 50% 10260 FERHPNE
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial and office
~ABER LM RE AR 13,760 - 50% 6,880 EERMAE
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park Commercial and office
A BHBE R AE2618 900 - 100% 90 R
26/F, Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Office
AR ZERAE2018 850 - 100% 850 iR
20/F, Shenzhen Tian An International Building Office
RYNERSE 2,190 - 100% 2190  #%
Shenzhen Jin An Garden Residential
FYXZRE 22,210 - 100% 2210 (%
Shenzhen Tian An Park Place Residential
FIXZES—H 85,150 - 50% 42,570 BERBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Phase 1 Commercial and office
RYIRZ B BB 28,070 - 50% 14,030  BEERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial and office
BMEBARETES 25,000 - 100% 25000 7EE
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Commercial
REAZHIEY, 7,500 - 39% 290 EE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial
BMRZEBHEHEE 39,580 - 50% 19790 FEE
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park Commercial
B ILRZE R BB 23,270 - 45% 10470  E¥
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Commercial
LISAZH b 22,350 - 98% 21900 BHERHDE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Commercial and office
LBRZRLSE - 812 - 168119 6,620 - 100% 6,620 HAE
5/F, 8/F, 16/F and 19/F, Shanghai Tian An Centre Office
LERmERRMERNBNLE 68,660 - 100% 68,660 (X%
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments Residential
LETERE 1,520 - 99% 1500 7@
Shanghai The Riverside Commercial
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SEES
LIES BE &6 BEER
BEAR BEER Frib s GFA
MELE Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable A%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
F7 Km? Py Km? FKm?
LiERIERIE 2,800 - 100% 2,800 F=E
Shanghai Elegant Garden Residential
BHRLAE 1,420 - 95% 1350 0
Wuxi Tian An Building Office
BHLLLE 2,830 - 95% 2690 EE
Wuxi Redhill Peninsula Commercial
BHALE SN 33,450 - 100% 33450 EE
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Commercial
ARARERAE 77,100 - 100% 77100  BERBLE
Nanjing Tian An International Building Commercial and office
BRAZHE 53,030 - 100% 53,030 EE
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BN TR 9,090 - 100% 9,00 EX
Changzhou New City Garden Commercial
EMRL BB 39,820 - 50% 19910 7E%
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
RSB AE4ERI9E 1,450 _ 100% 1,450 N
4/F and 19/F, Nantong Sun Hai Tung Building Office
HRBARI7EE 1,300 - 100% 1300 #E
2/F, Block 17, Nantong Jin Xiu Court Commercial
HRARTE 5,120 - 100% 5120 #EE
Nantong Tian An Garden Commercial
HRAREEY, 24,080 - 100% 24080 EE
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TR LB, 23,690 - 50% 11,840 HE
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TBRRLHER 3,340 - 50% 1670 FE
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Residential
ERRLZEEY, 16,890 - 50% 8440 ¥
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ERRLZHEY, 1,050 - 50% 50  fE
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Residential
ERIFHFEREAR 260 - 74.96% 200 ¥
Beijing Wangfujing Century Square Commercial
BN LAY 560 - 100% 560 FE
Beijing Lakeside Garden Residential
I RAEZZE 22,170 = 100% 2170 =
Beijing Park Apartments Residential
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

, EEAL
nE BE &6 BEER
BEER BEER Frik s GFA
NELR Property  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable  fi%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group  Use
F7 Km? T3 Km? P Km?
REXLBRIE 290 - 60% 170 =%
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Residential
RNERREIEAE 52,420 - 100% 52,420  JERE
Dalian Tian An International Tower Office
RERZE W 12,230 - 100% 12230 @
Changchun Tian An City One Commercial
REXZHEY, 30,030 - 50% 15010 &%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BERZHUBN 27,760 - 50% 13,880 ¥
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BRBETL 12,880 - 59.97% 7730 EE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
BRBETD 820 - 29.99% 250 EE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
ERBETEHRD 24,720 - 24.99% 6,180 TI%¥
Hong Kong Harbour Industrial Centre Industrial
EEBETEHRL 68,910 - 24.99% 1720 I%
Hong Kong Oceanic Industrial Centre Industrial
BATRBETL 2,550 - 37.48% 950 ¥
Hong Kong Queen’s Centre Commercial
BAZIRTERO 12,470 - 37.48% 4670 I%
Hong Kong Wah Shun Industrial Centre Industrial
BELL+E 15,720 - 24.99% 3,930 (%
Hong Kong Redhill Peninsula Residential
BEERTL 1,280 - 74.96% 970 EE
Hong Kong Billion Centre Commercial
ErEnE 220 - 74.96% 160 FE
Hong Kong Fortar Residential
BRERLE 100 - 74.96% 80 FEE
Hong Kong South Horizons Residential
BARE 210 - 74.96% 160 (%
Hong Kong The Wings Residential
{R%South PlaceiB /& 6,100 - 100% 6,100 A&
London South Place Hotel Hotel
971,260 683,100
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEES
n= BE &E BEER
BEAR BEER Frib s GFA
MELE Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable A%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FJ5Km? FrAm? FJ3Km?
LERZHL-BE - 7,770 98% 7610  EE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERE-BE - 3,180 100% 3180 #EE
Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERRALBNAE-BE - 2,510 100% 2510 BE
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
FRARTL-ER - 2,340 74.96% 1754 #E
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
LERERREEBNAE -8/ 10,600 - 100% 10,600  &Ff
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Clubhouse Clubhouse
EHSRE-SN 3,670 - 100% 3,670 &
Wauxi The Manhattan, Clubhouse Clubhouse
14,270 15,800 29,324
Bt - Note:

FEREBE-E—tF+-B=1+—HAZ&REH - The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2017.
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ARBBIRABERZ BERERF2KFEZ
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption of
the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report.
The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended
31st December, 2017, except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reasons for such deviations as explained below. The
Board will review the current practices at least annually, and make
appropriate changes if considered necessary.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eleven directors (“Directors”) in total,
with five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)

Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)

Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Lee Shu Yin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 15th June, 2017 and
resigned on 4th January, 2018)

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 73 to 77. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Board, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family or
other material relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has had four INEDs representing not less than one-third of the
Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence and
considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, four Board
meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and general meetings during the year ended 31st
December, 2017 are set out below:
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Name of Directors

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board Process (continued)

HE/ BTERZRY
Number of meetings attended/held

BRRAE

General

EREES
Audit
Committee

FMZEE
Remuneration

Committee Meetings

BiTES: Executive Directors:
REW(5/EE) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 2/4 0/2
BREB(EFLLHE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) 4/4 0/2
Be(g/4E3) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) 4/4 0/2
B=th Edwin Lo King Yau 4/4 2/2
&% Tao Tsan Sang 4/4 2/2
FHE Lee Shu Yin 4/4 0/2

(R=F—+FA+AHH  (re-designated as Executive Director

HEBHTEER on 15th June, 2017 and resigned

RZFE—/\E—FAMAFHE) on 4th January, 2018)
FHTES: Non-Executive Directors:
ERNIE(E/E) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 4/4 2/2
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 4/4 1/2 0/2
BYFHTES: INEDs:
fiziE Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 3/4 1/1 2/2 0/2
TEE Jin Hui Zhi 4/4 171 2/2 0/2
BEL Ngai Wah Sang 4/4 17 2/2 212
BB Lisa Yang Lai Sum 3/4 171 212 2/2

REFQATXERZIEHEIRBRAKEHE
BRE  2FLERE  2FLTHERE B
EREREHEECHE(RRERZEGZE
&) BRANERS  bEER UWhEM
EABKREUBEEE EFSCHATFRE
ZRTITHREEAR YHHATREEG(HEA
BEREERMBEERE)ER BB -EFEER
ARREEEZBEC D RIELIL AEES
o WARSREFSELRT RER - AR
HEBRE BRI A BRI — B -

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’
appointment or re-appointment (based on the recommendations made
by the Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and financial
matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to
the executive management under the instruction/supervision of
the Executive Committee which has its specific written terms of
reference. The respective functions of the Board and management of
the Company have been formalised and set out in writing-and will be
reviewed and updated by the Board from time to time to ensure that
they are consistent with the existing rules and regulations.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process (continued)

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In
addition, a written procedure has been established since June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

EREEXRRTE  EERhEFEeHLAES For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’
AARRIBEEER N 2 U RERIN - EEL attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the

HZEBEEIT

HWOES:

REW(ELE)

FRE(EFHLE)

S (g/E)

g

FHIE
(R=F—t#F~A+aH
KERBTEER
RZF=/\F—AOAEE)

FUTES:
FRE(ZE)
BRE

BUFHTES
BEE
EES
WEL
BER

management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:

SRBRERRRED
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
LREEERAER
2tV il v

BRER RE/EE

B Attending trainings/

Reading briefings/seminars/

Regulatory ZiHER conference relevant

Name of Directors Updates Site Visit to Directors’ duties

Executive Directors:
Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)
Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang
Lee Shu Yin
(re-designated as Executive Director
on 15th June, 2017 and resigned
on 4th January, 2018)

NSNS NSNS SN
~
NSNS SN SN SN

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) v
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

<
<
< S

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

NN N
~
NN NN
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy in December
2013 which sets out the objectives and principles regarding board
diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as practicable.
Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against measurable objectives, taking into account the
Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the
selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive (“CE”) should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, being the
Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of
the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii)
the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the
Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are
clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by
the Board in June 2005, and subsequently updated in April 2012.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations
to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance,
Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations
and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously
updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible
for re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive
Directors (including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years
commencing from 1st January, 2017.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following AGM and in
both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at
the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
and has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate
governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2017 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed
the corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012
and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members,
including Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Mr.
Ngai Wah Sang, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau,
being an Executive Director. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which
are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. In 2017, no Nomination Committee meeting
was held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
way of circulation. In 2017 and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2017 AGM and 2018 AGM;

(ii) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and assessed the independence of each INED;

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
extension of the retirement age under the employment contract of
the Managing Director; and

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the re-
designation of Mr. Lee Shu Yin as Executive Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005
and currently consists of four members, including Mr. Francis J. Chang
Chu Fai (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Jin Hui Zhi,
Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs.
The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a
deviation from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors only and not senior management
(as opposed to executive directors and senior management under the
code provision). The reasons for the above deviation are summarised
as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(ii) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and

control senior management and thus must be able to control their
compensation; and

(iii

=

there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation
packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2017 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2017. In 2017 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors;

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended

31st December, 2016;

(ii

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2016 and the increment in
salary for the year 2017 of the Executive Directors;

=

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the

Directors’ fee for the year 2017;

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the employment contract of the Chairman of the Board, and
noted the subsequent cessation of the employment contract; and

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
remuneration package of the re-designated Executive Director.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for their
additional responsibilities and services will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their employment contracts or service
contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements whereas
detailed changes in the emoluments of certain Directors during the
interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were also
disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 18th August,
2017. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the “Employee and Training” section contained in the Directors’
Report on page 90.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses
Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and has access to independent professional advice according
to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles
and functions of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time
to time to comply with the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code,
but with deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems; and

(iii

=

ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the listed company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for
the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive
Directors and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only possesses
the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure under the
code provision) whether management has performed its duty to have
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee is not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as
this would involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of
permanent experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position either
to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors
but it can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee is not
in a position to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced but it can check whether it is adequately resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2017 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2017. In 2017
and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the
external auditor in respect of the final audit for the year ended
31st December, 2016 (“2016 Final Audit”), the interim results
review for the six months ended 30th June, 2017 (“2017 Interim
Review”) and the final audit for the year ended 31st December,
2017 (“2017 Final Audit”) of the Group;

(ii) reviewed the independent review report/audit completion report
from the external auditor and the management’s response in
relation to 2016 Final Audit, 2017 Interim Review and 2017 Final
Audit;

(iii

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2016, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2017 and for the year ended
31st December, 2017 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

(iv) reviewed the internal audit review reports prepared by the
Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA Function”);

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the updated
reports on substantiation of the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget;

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
Related Party Transaction Policies and Procedures; and

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Procedures for the Identification and Monitoring of Connected
Transactions, Whistle Blower Policy, Policy on the Disclosure of
Inside Information and Policy on Risk Management, Compliance
and Internal Control Procedures.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February 2004
and currently consists of four Executive Directors, being Messrs.
Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee), Ma
Sun, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang. The Executive Committee
is vested with all the general powers of management and control of
the activities of the Group as are vested in the Board, save for those
matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and approval
pursuant to the written terms of reference of the Executive Committee.
The terms of reference of the Executive Committee were revised in
March 2008 following the adoption of the Whistle Blower Policy by
the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Executive Committee (continued)

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(ii) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cindy Yung Yee Mei is the Company Secretary of the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with the Shareholders and management.

Ms. Yung is an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
During the year, Ms. Yung undertook over 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are consideredto be likely in possession
of inside information in relation to the-Company or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing,
with the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2017, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 92 to 102.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. In 2017, the Board, through the Audit Committee, had
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement
of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role
in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and
manage the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual
assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant
business units and department heads of their respective responsibility
statements as co-ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings
are reported to the Chairman of Executive Committee who puts
forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of
each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in note 45b to the consolidated financial statements.

Internal Audit

The Head of IA Function reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
Audit Committee. The IA Function generally carries out the analysis
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Internal Audit Reports were prepared by the IA Function and
issued to the Audit Committee and the Board for review.

Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information (“Policy”) effective on 1st January, 2013 with respect
to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Policy sets out guidelines
and procedures to the Directors and relevant officers of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to
the public on an equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and
relevant officers in possession of potential inside information and/or
inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure
that proper safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality
of inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their
obligations to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall
be updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes
in circumstances and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements from time to time.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external
auditor is set out as follows:

TET

Services rendered for the Group
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HK$’000

Audit services 4,750
Non-audit services (including review of

compliance of Occupational Retirement

Scheme Ordinance and review of interim

results and continuing connected transactions) 873
Total 5,623

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
or in their absence, another member of the respective committees
or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any
independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the
Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member
of the independent board committee) should also be available to
answer questions at any general meeting of Shareholders to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

During the year, the 2017 AGM was held on 24th May, 2017.
The attendance record of the Directors at the 2017 AGM and the
extraordinary general meeting held on 24th May, 2017 is set out in
the section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) by sending a written request
to the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such
requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the EGM and must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”) at
a Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board
at the Registered Office in accordance with the Companies Ordinance
and the Articles of Association where applicable. The Proposal shall
be in the form of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and
concisely set out the Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the
Company’s business scope.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
in April 2012, and subsequently updated in December 2015. A
Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state
the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company, for any questions about their
shareholdings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2018
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APPROACH AND STRATEGY

Tian An China Investments Company Limited believes in delivering
long term, sustainable value creation to our shareholders. In doing
so, we recognise that the choices we make will have an impact on
the communities in which we carry on our business and we should
ensure such impact a positive one. The Company has adopted a
Sustainability Policy which covers our principles in the area of
employment and labour practices, business integrity, the environment
and the community and we shall endeavour to embrace these
principles as part of our practice and governance to contribute to the
sustainable development of society and the environment.

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has overall
responsibility for the Company’s strategy and reporting in respect
of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues and has
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which are put in place to identify, evaluate
and manage the risks of different businesses and activities, including
the ESG-related risks. Based upon the assessments made by the
Company’s senior management, subsidiaries’ respective management
and the external auditors, the Board considered that such systems are
effective and adequate.

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and selected
Key Performance Indicators (“KP1”) that are material to the Group
and its stakeholders on ESG issues for the year ended 31st December,
2017. This report supplements information disclosed elsewhere in this
annual report, and was approved by the Board on 16th March, 2018.

REPORTING SCOPE

The subject areas and aspects are presented based on the
(“ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).

“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the
ESG Guide within the scope of sustainability, the below are the
list of issues that are considered to be material and relevant to the
Group. The priorities are set based on management’s view as well as
conclusions from stakeholders’ engagement. We regularly engage key
stakeholders in daily operations through meetings, events, and other
communications and feedback channels. A survey was conducted
with a sampling of staff selected from various departments and project
managers to understand their specific views on the relevance and
materiality of various ESG aspects. Based on management’s assessment
as well as the survey results, the aspects and KPIs relevant for this
report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Material and relevant issues

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.2
Product responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.4, B6.5
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2

Other relevant issues

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure, KPI A1.1, A1.5, A1.6

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1, A2.3

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general
disclosure, KPI A3.1

Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure, KPI B1.1

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure, KPI B3.2
Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure

Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPl B8.1, B8.2
All other aspects of KPI not mentioned above were concluded to be

not relevant for disclosure.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of
provisions by the Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach
towards environmental issues. We endeavour to:

observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond
minimum requirements;

— prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste;

— make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials;

— minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment
and natural resources; and

- engage our staff, customers and partners to promote
environmentally sustainable business practices and constantly re-
assess our processes to minimise environmental impact.

The Group’s principal business activities are the development of
apartments, villas, office buildings and commercial properties,
property investment and property management in Mainland China, as
well as property investment and property management in Hong Kong.
The construction-related works for our property development projects
are outsourced to independent contractors who are subject to various
relevant environmental laws and regulations, including those relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, efficient use of
energy, water and other raw materials, noise pollution control, air
pollution control, water pollution control, sewage drainage system
and waste treatment. We work closely with our contractors to achieve
creative, elegant and green designs while being compatible and
sensitive to our environmental and social responsibilities.

This report does not include the disclosure of all the environmental
KPIs as they are not considered material or relevant as a conclusion of
our stakeholders” engagement as well as management’s view. Instead,
we have discussed our general approach and effort to reduce the
Group’s environmental footprint in various aspects.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities and direct
participating in construction works. Emissions produced directly by
the Group only related to the 73 executive passenger vehicles in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. These are used for senior staff’s
local travel only as well as for entertainment. It is therefore that the
scale and usage is immaterial given the size of the Group’s assets and
staff.

Except for the emissions, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
generated by our engaged contractors, which will be subject to their
own environmental statistics and management, the other emissions
produced by our direct businesses are mostly on a “second degree”
basis as incurred during occasional business travels which is
infrequent and the hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are also very
rarely produced by our office operations.

For the property development business, we keep track of the relevant
national and regional laws and regulations, such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China {# # A R #£ 1 B IR
5 IR & )£ ), the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s
Republic of China (/1 ZE A B £t 1 B IR 5 & 2 ¥ (& J%), the Ambient
Air Quality Standards of the People’s Republic of China {7 & A [ £ 7l
IR B 22 8 & 1Z %), the Environmental Quality Standard for Noise
of the People’s Republic of China {7 % A R F F1 B 2 IR 55 E 8 12 %),
etc. The Group strictly monitors and supervises our contractors to go
beyond the minimum requirements of the relevant laws and regulations
and avoid the violation made in our projects. During 2017, the Company
has no violation of the relevant laws and regulations in relation to above
environmental aspects.

The activities of the property investment and property management
businesses are mostly carried out locally in project offices in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. In line with our policy to minimise air and
greenhouse gas emissions, the offices in most cities are equipped with
video conferencing facilities to minimise the need for face to face
meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum. Only a small
percentage of employees travel for business is noted. There are no
relevant laws and regulations applicable to our business on this aspect.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We have adopted a series of internal control policies and procedures
to enhance the efficiency in consumption of resources including
energy, water and other paper. With 1,980 staff across the Group,
we consume considerable amounts of electricity and paper and with
the efficient use of such, we hope to minimise our impact on the
environment whilst we grow our businesses. Water consumption
is not material to our business as it relates mainly to the personal
consumption of our staff or for their personal hygiene.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings and
reduction in paper consumption are circulated to all staff at head
office and project offices. For instance, staff are reminded to switch
off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during
the time working outside the office and wherever possible. Energy
efficient office equipment is always preferred in making purchase
decisions. During 2017, the Group’s total electricity consumption was
approximately 31.4 million kWh.

Since December 2014, electronic board paper systems have been
promoted and implemented throughout the Group, allowing our
directors of the Company to access meeting papers online anytime,
anywhere with the use of portable electronic devices, improving

Board efficiency whilst saving papers.

Throughout the Group, the following business processes were
implemented to improve efficiency and to reduce paper usage:

— electronic bank statements;
- recycling schemes of office equipments and supplies; and

— internal electronic administration and communication platform.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

For the property development business, the Group encourages and

implements the green design by strictly control the contractors to

implement various environmental protection management measures.
The contractors are requested to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations and are required to:

sprinkle the construction sites regularly to reduce the dust raising;
wash the cars and trucks when entry in and out the sites;

install temporary noise barriers and strictly follow operation
hours;

build waste water collection pipes and pools to collect household
and construction waste water and ensure that hazardous waste
water is properly discharged;

separate recyclable and non-recyclable construction wastes and
ensure they are properly treated; and

request to use energy saving systems and facilities, such as
solar panel, LED light, electric sensor system, double layer glass
window, external wall with thermal insulating material and
natural lighting concept, etc, in order to meet our green design
idea.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and

The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

For the property investment and property management businesses,
eco-friendly options are often considered and where possible/
appropriate are implemented in operations and maintenance works.

These include:

— use of solar panels on the roof top to generate clean energy in
supporting operation;

— install sensors to turn off lighting and air-conditioning
automatically when not in use;

— replace energy wasting lights with LED lights;

— use of double layer glass window for better thermos-insulating
effects to reduce energy consumption;

— use of reclaimed water for toilet flushing where appropriate;

— place the recycling bins in the prominent place to encourage
waste separation awareness amongst our staff and customer; and

— check the lighting, air-conditioning and water pipe systems
regularly to prevent the lost of natural resources.

Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s business has no direct
impact on the environment and natural resources.



60 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2017

BRE #HERERBES

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B. H2&E

BE - BREEZE2RETER
(ET®B1 > B2 ~ B4)

RRAFETERREZERAT - HBRARKE
BEPREREAMAEET - FIZ - BB
RERME  DEEERMFEEE  URES
BZMERENYMEER - AT RBMRLE
BE  REDARRIZERPERNAHELER
MBS - AABZRIBEBERAT

— ETHBARERER
- ERTERERET  THFMEEE BB
B TEREC BRY FEHE %

Tt RIEAR - UR B THAMFE RGN
HEERATER

- REERHRE RBEEKRENIER
5 RERSFRIBENRSE

— REETETFEEAEPIGRIEFE

- RERBIZEIRERER NUEAK
FETT TVERR 2 JNas M heBe

- RPBEBTRARAYE  REAZHARZE
[FAE - M

— BIEETRRGIST -

B. SOCIAL ISSUES

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4)

The Company is substantially an investment holding company and
with subsidiaries involve in the development of apartments, villas,
office buildings and commercial properties, property investment

and property management in Mainland China, as well as property

investment and property management in Hong Kong. Our people are

our most important assets that drive the long term development and
sustainability of the Company. The Group’s policy on employment is
as follows:

observing relevant laws and regulations;

being an equal-opportunity employer, implement fair practices
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare for
our staff;

providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting
employees from occupational hazards;

promoting a good work-life balance for staff;
investing in training and professional development of our staff
for the purpose of improving their knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work;

maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a
transparent two-way communication; and

preventing child and forced labour.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4) (continued)

In Mainland China, staff employment is subject to the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China {41 2 A & $ Al B 45 &)) /%) and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (& #E A & £t F1 B 45
&) 4 [A )%). In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment of staff is subject
to the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance, as well
as the Employee’s Compensation Ordinance. The Group has no known
non-compliance with the above relevant regulations.

Our compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest
periods, welfare) need to be competitive with other peers in the
similar sectors and in general exceeds the minimum as required by
the relevant regulations. Owing to the nature of our businesses, work
related injuries, occupational health issues and the incurrence of
child labour are not significant risk factors.

Further information on the Group’s human resources is also detailed
in the section headed “Directors’ Report” on page 90 of this annual
report.

The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working
environment for our staff. On top of this, well-being programs such
as those promoting a good work-life balance are regularly offered to
staff.

As at 31st December, 2017, the Group employs a total of 1,980 staff
in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Number of staff breakdown

]!

Gender

B Male St

Female %2/
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B  BEEZE2RETER Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(FBTB1 ~ B2~ B4)(#&) (Aspects B1, B2, B4) (continued)
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning
in our organisation. Heavy emphasis is placed on staff training which
is tailored to equip our workforce with the necessary knowledge
and skills relevant for their work, as well as to build our talent pool.
Management is involved, together with professional trainers, in
designing training programmes to meet the demands of the workplace.
Training content and topics are set to cover the key aspects of our
operations. Management development initiatives currently include
courses on the second language training, prevention of bribery,
bankruptcy laws, data privacy, technical skills, debt collection skills,
product knowledge, computer skills, customer service techniques,
communication and complaints handling. Workshops for managerial
and supervisory staff are provided and are intended to enhance our
employees’ career development. There are also workshops specifically
for managerial staff on career development, team building and people
management skills.

On top of internal training, the Group also provides a study subsidy
for staff to advance their education outside of office works. During
2017, staff training across the Group amounted to 8,187 hours in
total.

Training hours breakdown

1 51

Gender

B Male F1E

Female %%
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Development and Training (Aspect B3) (continued)

Training hours breakdown (continued)

£
Grade

EREET
Managerial staff
—H%RET
General staff

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group’s main business suppliers include designers, contractors,
constructors, construction material suppliers, sales and leasing
agents, services providers, providers of information technology and
communication, legal and other business services as well as vendors
for office supplies. Their prices, suitability and reputation are the
main factors in engagement and procurement decision making.

The Group only engages local contractors with possession of relevant
qualification in relevant aspect and level of the construction works.
At least three independent potential contractors and suppliers
would make or be invited to make the tender for site projects and
we conduct tendering procedures on the assessment and selection.
We have well defined policies on selecting of suitable contractors
and suppliers by checking their registered licenses, qualification
level, relevant experience and our project size. Those contractors
and suppliers are selected carefully based on track record of good
practices, reputation and are subject to benchmarking, audits and
rotation.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5) (continued)

In order to ensure the quality of the construction works, products
and services supply, our construction as well as products and
services supply contracts typically contain warranties for quality and
completion time. The contractors are also responsible to supervise
and monitor the construction works seriously. Our engineering
department regulates and monitors the cost control and construction
progress closely during construction with periodic on-site inspection
and stringent quality control procedures. The suppliers are required
to be evaluated and screened by the Group based on established
procedures for the quality of products and services as prescribed
by the contracts. We also set out provisions to the contractors and
suppliers for occupational safety, good environmental practices and
social responsibility and ensure they have no violation of the relevant
laws and regulations of Mainland China.

Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

For the property development business in Mainland China, our
projects follow the relevant guidelines, laws and regulations
on property quality announced by the provincial and Central
governments. Our project engineers regularly inspect the building
materials and construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations to
construct reasonable quality and safety building and meet the
acceptable reliability level. During 2017, there were no known cases
of non-compliance with the above laws or regulations.

For the property rental and management services, the Group
enhances our facilities and equipment to improve service quality. We
endeavour to maintain a close relationship with our customer and
pursue customer satisfaction.

Owing to the nature of the property development business where
a high price product is involved, reputational risk monitoring and
preventions are of utmost importance. We have various measures
in place to minimise risks. Results and response to property quality
are monitored on a timely basis. The Group provides comprehensive
after-sale services including handling customer complaints and
supervising the repair and ongoing maintenance of the properties
developed. During the defect liability period, we forward the defect
to our engineering department or contractors to follow up all the
substandard works reported by the purchasers. Contractors engaged
for construction are tightly monitored as discussed above.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Product Responsibility (Aspect B6) (continued)

For the business of property rental and management services, we have
a reception desk in property management office for each project. We
pay close attention to the customer dissatisfaction and forward the
complaint to relevant departments for follow-up. During 2017, the
complaint rate is low and most of the complainants accepted or were
satisfied with our replies. The Group put the best effort to response
instantly to the problem and complaint submitted by the tenant.

Servicing the property purchaser and tenant in Mainland China and
Hong Kong, we place a very high priority to uphold the customer
data privacy. Measures and clear guidelines are in place to ensure
customer’s relevant data are protected against unauthorised or
accidental access, processing or erasure. Appropriate levels of security
protection were implemented by appropriate physical, electronic and
managerial measures to safeguard and secure customer’s personal
data. In addition, our Employee Manual requires employees to keep
confidential of the information which includes customer information
and states the proper procedures of handling customer data.

Anti-corruption (Aspect B7)

A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate employees’
direct reporting of any unlawful conduct, any incident of corruption,
avoidance of internal controls, incorrect or improper financial or
other reporting to senior management. This policy is either circulated
to employees periodically or included in the Employee Manual of the
Group to facilitate employees’ easy access and refresh employees’
awareness of reporting. During 2017, there were no known cases of
non-compliance with the above laws and regulations.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We strive to excel for our customers and undertake the responsibility
of a good corporate citizen contributing to the community by
encouraging our staff to enrol in charity and social services.

In Hong Kong, we participated in the activities of Hong Kong &
Kowloon Walk for Millions and Walk for Nature @ Mai Po in January
and November 2017 respectively. Both volunteering activities were
recorded proactive participation. We hope that through the volunteer
activities, we can help the underprivileged in the community, like
low-income senior citizens, senior citizens living alone, children
education, environmental conservation, etc, by offering our care and
concern. We also encouraged our staff to participate the Corporate
Games organised by Hong Kong government in order to enrich their
recreational life and raise their focus on health.

Total donations of HK$1,163,000 were paid to a charitable institution
in Mainland China during 2017.

Apart from charitable activities, the Group is also involved in the
community via our participation in schools. By sharing our knowledge
and best practices, we aim to contribute to the long term development
of the communities we operate in.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2017 are set out in notes 47, 48 and 49
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The breakdown
by principal activities of the Group’s revenue and the contribution to
profit before taxation for the year ended 31st December, 2017 is set
out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed review of the Group’s business is set out in the Managing
Director’s Statement (“MDS”) on page 6. Future development of the
Company’s business is set out in the MDS on page 7. An analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the MDS and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 14.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react to changes in market conditions and the
Group’s business strategy. The audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-related policies and scrutinises that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management
and internal control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling
major risks arising from the Group’s business activities, changing
external risks and the regulatory environment, and reports to the
Board on the above.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will change due
to movements in market factors and which can be further divided
into interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit
risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing
to make payments as contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given
security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a
loss or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk
management is outlined in note 45b “Financial Risk Management
Objective and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or external
events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, setting out clear lines of
responsibility, proper segregation of duties and effective internal
reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate culture that
the business and operating line management are fully aware of, and
responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business
units on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are
conducted by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports
regularly to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.

Uncertainties

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under
review are affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in China. The policy change, interest rate
change, reserve requirement ratio change, demand-supply imbalance,
house price indexes and the overall economic conditions may induce
a material adjustment on the Group’s business, financial position and
results.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection legislated by the local government for developing and
managing the properties. The Group meets the criteria and standard
of noise pollution control, air pollution control, sewage drainage
system and construction waste treatment for construction as well as
encourages to make green in our projects.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation.
It is the Group’s aim to reduce the impacts of its operations on the
environment. The environmental policies of the Group include
minimising consumption of paper and electricity, reducing waste and
promoting the use of electronic communication and storage.

Further information on the Group’s environmental issues also detailed
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 53 to
67.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 103 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK20 cents per share
(in lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2017
payable on or around Friday, 20th April, 2018 to the shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 6th April, 2018. Details are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$694,722,000 in value and certain inventories of
completed properties to a value of HK$382,749,000 were transferred
to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its investment
properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising on the
revaluation amounted to HK$453,766,000 and has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$21,778,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,
2017 are set out on pages 23 to 31.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the
end of the year.

BORROWINGS

Bank loans and other borrowings which-are repayable within one year
or on demand are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis
of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings are set out in notes 33
and 34 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Song Zengbin

Patrick Lee Seng Wei

Ma Sun

Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Lee Shu Yin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 15th June, 2017 and
resigned on 4th January, 2018)

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles of Association”), Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Mr. Song
Zengbin, Dr. Moses Cheng Mo Chi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum shall
retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards
of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year are available on the
website of the Company under the “Corporate Governance” section.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Song Zengbin, aged 63, was appointed the Deputy Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Song
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than thirty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 66, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and
the Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004
and December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the
Chairman and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director
to the Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Being an architect,
he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than thirty years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee is
an executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited (“ASL”, formerly
known as Dan Form Holdings Company Limited), a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and he resigned as the chief
executive and was appointed the chairman of ASL in January 2018.
He is a cousin of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Ma Sun, aged 77, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became an additional Deputy Managing
Director of the Company responsible for organising the investment
and development of the cyberpark projects of the Company in April
2009. Mr. Ma joined Sun Hung Kai Securities Limited (now known
as Everbright Sun Hung Kai Company Limited) in 1984 and was then
transferred to the Group in 1985. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Besides holding a Bachelor’s Degree
in Electrical Engineering, he has extensive experience in electrical
engineering and over thirty years of experience in China commercial
business, financial investment and property development.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 57, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
chartered company secretary. He had served various executive roles
in several companies in Hong Kong including as company secretary
for public listed companies. Mr. Lo is also an executive director of
each of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 53, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in October 2009. He is also the Financial Controller
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the
Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management and China
business field. Mr. Tao is an executive director of ASL, a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 48, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated
from the Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours.
Previously, he worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild
& Sons (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive
and an executive director of each of AGL and Allied Properties
(H.K.) Limited, both are substantial shareholders of the Company.
He is a non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited (“APAC
Resources”) and the non-executive chairman of Mount Gibson Iron
Limited (“Mount Gibson”). Mount Gibson is a company listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange. Mr. Lee resigned as the chairman and
non-executive director of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company in January 2018. He is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei
(the Managing Director of the Company).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 68, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is a practising solicitor and the consultant of P. C. Woo &
Co., a Hong Kong firm of solicitors after serving as its Senior Partner
from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng is currently the chairman of the
Insurance Authority and chairman of the Process Review Panel for
the Securities and Futures Commission. He is also a member of the
Aviation Development and Three-runway System Advisory Committee.
Dr. Cheng was the founding chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and Chairman
Emeritus. He was a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
and the chairman of the Main Board Listing Committee and the
Growth Enterprise Market Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and a remuneration committee member of the
Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong. He was also the chairman
of the Education Commission, the Free Kindergarten Education
Committee, the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for
former Chief Executives and Politically Appointment Officials, the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment on Civil Servants.
He also serves on the boards of various listed companies in Hong
Kong and overseas, both as independent non-executive director
and non-executive director, including China Mobile Limited, China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, Guangdong Investment
Limited, K. Wah International Holdings Limited, Kader Holdings
Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited and Towngas
China Company Limited. He was previously an independent non-
executive director of ARA Asset Management Limited (which was
formerly listed in Singapore).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, aged 63, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University
in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada since 1977.
He has over forty years of experience in banking, corporate finance,
investment and management and has held various executive positions
at financial institutions and directorships of listed companies. Mr.
Chang is currently the managing director of Ceres Consultancy
Limited and an independent non-executive director of APAC
Resources. He was previously the vice chairman and an executive
director of Royale Furniture Holdings Limited.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Jin Hui Zhi, aged 57, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2010. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration. He has extensive experience in the
business market. Mr. Jin is currently the chairman of Shanghai
Horizon Investment Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Horizon”) and the deputy
president of the Youth Entrepreneur Association of Shanghai.
Shanghai Horizon is a company principally engaged in the investment
of three major industries, namely bio-engineering, environmental
protection and energy-saving and medical. Mr. Jin was formerly chief
member of Youth Work Ministry, chief member and deputy director
of Research Department, member of Standing Committee and minister
of Youth Work Ministry of China Communist Youth League Shanghai
Committee.

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 59, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and dealing with business
development and investments and previously worked for international
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
Mr. Ngai was previously the deputy chairman and the chief executive
officer of Earnest Investments Holdings Limited.

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 51, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007.
She graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in
Australia and England. She is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and
a consultant of ONC Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also an independent non-
executive director of each of AGL, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management

Chew Chee Choong, aged 46, is the General Manager of the Group.
He joined the Group in October 2005. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chew has over twenty years of
experience in the fields of property construction and development.

Chen Saifang, aged 66, is the General Manager of the Southern
China Region. She joined the Group in April 2004. She is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chen was
graduated with specialization in finance. She worked at the provincial
level institutions and listed companies in the mainland and Hong
Kong for more than forty years. She has extensive exposure and
working experience in finance, investment, project and corporate
management.

Song Zhu Feng, aged 57, is the General Manager of the Contracts
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December 2003.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing Hua
University in Beijing with a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He
has over twenty years of experience in the fields of engineering and
property development.

Zhou Zhimin, aged 57, is the General Manager of the Property
Management Department of the Group. He joined the Group in April
1998. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zhou graduated from the University of Mannheim in Germany with a
Licentiate’s Degree in International Economic Relations. He has over
twenty years of experience in the fields of real estate development
and property management.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”) has an unexpired service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”)) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st-December, 2018 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

RZZFBE—tF+_A=+—8 ' REFHNLH At 31st December, 2017, Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Ma Sun,
EEOI([EHREEEN 1) 3526 EFMTF  Directors, had the following interests in the shares and underlying
BETMASE  EEFTHBALEREHRLE  shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept

under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

AR T2 B 15 RARBIRRAA b 7 DA T

BERHO R EERERTRG
HERG 2# B BYBOBEIL
Number of Approximate %
shares and of the relevant
EENR YNGIES underlying total number of ExnE
Name of Directors  Name of companies  shares interested issued shares Nature of interests
FRKE YN 798,269,096 52.97% HibiErs
Lee Seng Hui the Company (HisE1) Other interests
(Note 1)
DEMERRAT 938,826,898 75.64% Hfthigzs
(TERREHEE |) (Brat2) Other interests
Asiasec Properties (Note 2)
Limited (“ASL”)
5 EA/NS 47,945 0.003% 1B AfES
Ma Sun the Company Personal interests
(AEB=ERAFHESR)
(held as beneficial owner)
oo E 6,232 0.001% B AR
ASL Personal interests
(AESHEBAFNEE)
(held as beneficial owner)
Hist - Notes:
1. FRBELABERZINS LT MERERE Blee 1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang
and Lee Trust(2#{Z7E) Z1E5EA ° Lee and Lee are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and

TrustE#BA EEER AR ([HAEE ) B BTR
DREH74.95% (BIEZX B EZBARETS)

Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued
shares of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s

W RIEREE A %IE/‘ZIS/D\THX@'Z}JZ%@ , personal interests) and was therefore deemed to be interested in the shares
MmtAEEAGIEEBEMBAR - 85 }?’ﬁﬁ of the Company in which AGL was deemed to be interested through the
74.99%FE %S ZMTE Gl ﬂﬂ?(%,ﬁ)ﬁﬁ& subsidiaries of AGL, including (i) Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL"), its

(BaHE])  RGNERS7.29% =2 HIB R
%ﬁﬂ%gﬁ[ﬁ@7([%&%KJ)EA$/&TH%’7}¢%€%

5o

74.99%-owned subsidiary; and (ii) Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”), its
57.29%-owned subsidiary.

2. ERFHBEENARB T  HWHRIEHWE 2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by virtue of his interests in the Company, was deemed
DEME(ARARZIEEENB AR mMEL AR to be interested in the shares of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
72*@5%/%@(%2%% 5 REARERBIEXVER)) Company and therefore an associated corporation of the Company within the

Z Bty s o meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
3. LiPIEREREBITE - 3. All interests stated above represent long positions.



EEEHRAE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BEEoRES#E)

BREXBEEEN R-_FT—EF+ A
=t—H ARFBZBEFLRHTERAEH
ENARB AT AREEE(BERESR
HIERBIEXVED) 2 EAR - HER G RE
BEFHREBLENREZZRBERMF
NIGMEMFEZELCH - SRBEEEME
RHAABRARE EWARR (T EmRAH
BTHEc EMBETARSETERRXHNE
EFAARTHEARARBANREERERZAE
RAF (B ) Z (E iR -

ESERAHEFER D 2H&E

RERNRBMEARE BB - RIBETIRA
T EECBIIERTEFR SN BIR AR T3
SAREESHE G T BT LT HE
RS

1. FRERE  SRBEELE  HBRELER
FRERE(MN -_Z—/\F-ANBBER
EHWEZAHTER) RTRMEZES -
FZAFEBEETHB ARG MHIEEYE
RERMEER 2 F5

2. FREELERBMAMECES  ZRFE
BHEETHEARGSOREEE  WEHE
RERERYEER ZEK

3. FREXRERTABRZES  ZAFE
BEMBARMBONBEEZE

4. FREEERSSHEERBAREZE
= RATBREETWEBARSNOKSE
BE DEXERERERMEEEZE
1o BSREEERBARE B QA
EREERARZES  ZAREMIESE
BEZER &

5. ZKIRSLAE AlLee and Lee TrustZ ErEAZ
—  Lee and Lee Trustit iR BEE S = H - B
AHE - FTBE TARERMTHEMES
BZEERE - BAER - BaERN
BEBBEEZHBATDBNHUEEE -
VZEBRRERGERYEESE 2 EK - TR
EBREBEMBARIENUNEEE 2%
%o mEMESBEE THB AR MK
EYHERERYETIE 2 T ©

KEHEREARRAR
20174,

79

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December, 2017, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’” INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan
Sang are, and Mr. Lee Seng Hui (a former director of ASL resigned
on 4th January, 2018) was, director(s) of ASL which, through
certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of
property investment and property management;

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APL which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money lending,
property development and investment and property management;

3. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APAC Resources which, through
its subsidiary, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;

4. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment and property management. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is
a director of AG Capital Limited (a subsidiary of AGL) which is
partly engaged in the business of money lending; and

5. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL,
SHK, APAC Resources and ASL. AGL, APL and SHK through
their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the businesses of money
lending, property development and investment and property
management. APAC Resources, through its subsidiary, is partly
engaged in the business of money lending. ASL, through certain
of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of property
investment and property management.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

DIRECTORS’” INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
(CONTINUED)

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship or
shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure
that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of
carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the businesses of such companies.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to the
sharing of administrative services and management services as
detailed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
on pages 85 to 89, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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FERRREMALT ES SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

MR-Z—+E+-A=+—08 BEZEHEREH At 31st December, 2017, the following Shareholders had interests in
EIEPIE336IKREMTFE 2 & MPTEL - #  the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
BARNBIDSIEAR DR Z RN T - register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
BERORERRG2EE
Number of shares and underlying shares interested
B AR ZEER
(AEREEBA (RE+LE EEBEE T
55 EH) 2 HEE) RGBSz
Personal Corporate BAESL
Interests Interests Approximate %
(held as (interest of HitfER ERRHE  of the relevant
REEZRE beneficial controlled Other Total total number of
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests issued shares
BamE(EE) AR AR ([BEHE]) - 798,269,096 - 798,269,096 52.97%
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL") (Brat1) (Brat2)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
e EBARAR((MaEE]) - 798,269,096 - 798,269,096 52.97%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (B15t3) (Brat2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust - 798,269,096 - 798,269,096 52.97%
(Hi7t4) (Hiat2)
(Note 4) (Note 2)
Penta Investment Advisers Limited = - 330,131,570 330,131,570 21.91%
(“Penta”) (ARREBEA (Hi7t5)
H0RE) (Note 5)
(held as
investment
manager)
Penta Master Fund, Limited 89,740,440 - = 89,740,440 5.96%
(Hizte)
(Note 6)
Credit Suisse Group AG (“Credit Suisse”) = 154,361,000 = 154,361,000 10.24%
(FE) (FE)
(long position) (long position)
154,293,000 154,293,000 10.24%
ORE) C%E)
(short position) (short position)
(K1at7)

(Note 7)
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FERRREMAL 2R )

BRAEHE

Name of Shareholders

Vigor Online Offshore Limited
(“Vigor Online”)

China Spirit Limited (“China Spirit”)

i)
Chong Sok Un

Sun Hung Kai International
Commodities Limited
(“SHK Commodities”)

Sun Hung Kai Financial Group Limited
(“SHK Financial Group”)

KAEBHSBERBRAR(DEAEE])
Everbright Securities Financial Holdings
Limited (“Everbright Financial”)

HARBZBROBERAF (N ARER])
Everbright Securities Company Limited
(“Everbright Securities”)

SKK Special Situation Fund (“SKK")

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

B AR
(AEREBA
B0 EH)
Personal
Interests

(held as
beneficial
owner)

101,005,000

99,420,400

BERGOREBERG 2HE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

B
(RELE
ZRER)
Corporate
Interests
(interest of
controlled
corporation)

101,005,000

103,005,000

126,195,000

126,195,000

126,195,000

HithiE s
Other
Interests

82,441,000
(ASE R &
BEA
SFE)
(held as holder
of securities)

SRR
Total
Interests

101,005,000

101,005,000
(H17#8)
(Note 8)

103,005,000
(Hi7£9)
(Note 9)

82,441,000
(Hiaz10)
(Note 10)

126,195,000
(Bta£11)
(Note 11)

126,195,000
(Ha£12)
(Note 12)

126,195,000
(Hia£13)
(Note 13)

99,420,400

EBEREERT
RGBSz
i R

Approximate %
of the relevant
total number of
issued shares

6.70%

6.70%

6.84%

5.47%

8.38%

8.38%

8.38%

6.60%
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FTERREREMA T ZERE Z) SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

BEERORABRG ZHE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

B ARz EEER
(MEBREBA (2423 EEEE BT
FHEHR) ) R AP E
Personal Corporate BABD
Interests Interests Approximate %
(held as (interest of HREs LK of the relevant
REREHE beneficial controlled Other Total total number of
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests issued shares

Argyle Street Management Limited = = 99,420,400 99,420,400 6.60%
(“Argyle Street Management”) (AREEEA (Kreti14)
F0RAE) (Note 14)
(held as
investment
manager)
Argyle Street Management Holdings - 99,420,400 - 99,420,400 6.60%
Limited (“Argyle Street Holdings”) (Bfat15)
(Note 15)
B2 = 99,420,400 = 99,420,400 6.60%
Chan Kin (Kriz16)
(Note 16)

a3 N :
Wi : otes

1. EEEAEENEMARE2EHE AT 1. The interests include (i) 733,269,096 shares held by China Elite Holdings
Fine Class Holdings Limited 2 2 & i B 2 7 Limited (“China Elite”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fine Class Holdings
China Elite Holdings Limited([ China Elite))#57 Limited which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of APL; and (ii) 65,000,000
733,260,006 B B3 15 ¢ R (ii) B 3108 A IR A 7] shares held as holder of securities by Itso Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
(T379%% ) 2 2 BHB A Fshipshape Investments of Shipshape Investments Limited which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
Limited 2 &M B2 Fltso Limited ST @5 A of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”). APL, through its wholly-owned
138 2 65,000,00003 85 - BA HEEBE S subsidiaries AP Jade Limited and AP Emerald Limited, owned approximately
EHHE A FIAP Jade Limited AP Emerald Limited# 57.29% of the total number of issued shares of SHK. APL was therefore

TR R O T R B B 4057 00% » BT D HhEE deemed to have an interest in the shares in which China Elite and SHK were
WRIEEAChina Elite RATBEFT A 2 R1A 2 1 nterested,

2. HETIEEA AR 2 F— 798,269,006 85 2. The figure refers to the same interests of APL in 798,269,096 shares.

1/\ o

3. BMALEEEAMAMEDEITRG BHY 3. AGL owned approximately 74.99% of the total number of issued shares of APL

i ‘B o=

74.99% » BRI IEE A HA HEFIES 2 RG> and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APL was

B2 - interested.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

115

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number
of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests)
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was
interested.

These include (i) an interest in 311,576,570 shares; and (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 18,555,000
underlying shares of the Company.

These duplicated parts of the interests of Penta.

The interests include the holding of (i) 154,361,000 shares (long position); and
(ii) 154,293,000 shares (short position), of which included unlisted cash settled
derivatives of the Company giving rise to the interest in (i) 68,000 underlying
shares (long position); and (ii) 17,420,000 underlying shares (short position) of
the Company.

China Spirit owned the entire issued share capital of Vigor Online and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Vigor Online was
interested.

Ms. Chong Sok Un owned the entire issued share capital of China Spirit and
was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which China Spirit
was interested.

Based on the information provided by SHK Commodities, SHK Commodities
was interested in 82,441,000 shares as at 31st December, 2017.

The interests include (i) 43,754,000 shares held by Sun Hung Kai Structured
Products Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Everbright Sun Hung Kai
Company Limited (“Everbright SHK”, formerly known as Sun Hung Kai
Financial Limited); and (ii) 82,441,000 shares held by SHK Commodities, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai Bullion Company Limited which in
turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Everbright SHK, both held as holders of
securities. As Everbright SHK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK Financial
Group, SHK Financial Group was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which Everbright SHK was interested.

Everbright Financial owned 70% interests of the total number of issued shares
of SHK Financial Group and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which SHK Financial Group was interested.

Everbright Securities owned the entire issued shares of Everbright Financial
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Everbright
Financial was interested.

Argyle Street Management owned the entire issued share capital of SKK and
was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which SKK was
interested.

Argyle Street Holdings owned the entire issued share capital of Argyle Street
Management and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which Argyle Street Management was interested.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

16. Mr. Chan Kin owned approximately 50.94% interests in the issued share
capital of Argyle Street Holdings and was therefore deemed to have an interest
in the shares in which Argyle Street Holdings was interested.

17. Save for the short positions of Credit Suisse, all interests stated above as at 31st
December, 2017 represent long positions as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7th
February, 2017 and the 2016 Annual Report of the Company,
the Company entered into a renewed sharing of administrative
services and management services agreement (“Services
Agreement”) with AGL on 7th February, 2017, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to reimburse AGL the actual costs
incurred in respect of (i) the administrative services, including
the corporate secretarial services, provision of registered office
address, utilities services including water, electricity, telephone
(including international telephone services) and internet,
photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and other services
ancillary to the day-to-day administration and operation of the
Group provided by AGL (“Administrative Services”) and (ii) the
management services, including the management, consultancy,
strategic, internal audit, management information system
consultancy and business advice services provided by the
senior management and the selected staff of AGL to the Group
(“Management Services”) for a period of three years commenced
from 1st January, 2017 to 31st December, 2019.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being the Chairman and a Non-Executive
Director of the Company, a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services and also one of the trustees
of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which, together
with his personal interests, indirectly owned approximately
74.95% interests in the total number of issued shares of AGL as at
31st December, 2017, is deemed to be interested in the Services
Agreement. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, by being an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services, is deemed to be interested in
the Services Agreement.

The aggregate amount of the costs paid by the Group in respect
of the Management Services provided by AGL under the Services
Agreement for the year ended 31st December, 2017 was
HK$57,231,000.00.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

2.

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 30th
May, 2016 and 28th December, 2016 and the 2016 Annual
Report of the Company (where applicable):

(i) four leasing agreements (“Leasing Agreement |”, “Leasing
Agreement I1”, “Leasing Agreement V” and “Leasing
Agreement VI”) were entered into between Dalian Tian An
Tower Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as lessor and United Asia Finance (Free Trade
Zone Dalian) Limited (“Dalian UAF”), an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of SHK, as lessee on 30th May, 2016, in
relation to the leasing of office premises in Dalian Tian An
International Building, No. 88 Zhongshan Road, Zhongshan
District, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC for a term
commenced from 1st July, 2016 to 30th June, 2018 at the
monthly considerations of RMB24,003.12, RMB32,525.83,
RMB212,239.34 and RMB15,977.17 respectively; and

(ii) a leasing agreement (“Leasing Agreement VII”) was entered
into between Hing Yip Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as lessor and Sun Hung
Kai Investment Services Limited (Shanghai Representative
Office) (“SHKIS”), which is set up under Sun Hung Kai
Investment Services Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
an associate of SHK), as lessee on 28th December, 2016, in
relation to the leasing of office premises in Tian An Centre,
Shanghai, the PRC for a term commenced from 1st January,
2017 to 30th June, 2017 at the monthly consideration of
RMB13,030.80.

The considerations paid under the Leasing Agreement |, Leasing
Agreement Il, Leasing Agreement V, Leasing Agreement VI and
Leasing Agreement VII (collectively “Leasing Agreements”) for
the year ended 31st December, 2017 were RMB288,037.44,
RMB390,309.96, RMB2,546,872.08, RMB191,726.04 and
RMB78,184.80 respectively. The aggregate consideration paid
under the Leasing Agreements for the year ended 31st December,
2017 was RMB3,495,130.32.

Considerations of the Leasing Agreements include rental and
management fee.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31st
March, 2017, on 31st March, 2017, (i) the Company as tenant
entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“Sub-Tenancy Agreement
1”) with AP Administration Limited (“AP Administration”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of APL, as landlord; (ii) the Company
as tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“Sub-Tenancy
Agreement 11”) with AGL as landlord; and (iii) ASL, a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant entered into a sub-
tenancy agreement (“Sub-Tenancy Agreement IIl”) (collectively
“Sub-Tenancy Agreements”) with AP Administration as landlord.
Pursuant to Sub-Tenancy Agreement I, AP Administration agreed
to sublet to the Company a portion of office premises in Allied
Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(“AKB”) for a term commenced from 1st April, 2017 to 31st
March, 2019 at the monthly consideration of HK$29,100.00 (from
1st April, 2017 to 31st May, 2017) and HK$33,400.00 (from 1st
June, 2017 to 31st March, 2019) respectively. Pursuant to Sub-
Tenancy Agreement I, AGL agreed to sublet to the Company
certain portions of office premises in AKB for a term commenced
from 1st April, 2017 to 31st March, 2019 at the monthly
consideration of HK$215,400.00. Pursuant to Sub-Tenancy
Agreement Ill, AP Administration agreed to sublet to ASL a portion
of another office premises in AKB for a term commenced from 1st
June, 2017 to 31st March, 2019 at the monthly consideration of
HK$122,200.00.

The considerations paid under the Sub-Tenancy Agreement |
and Sub-Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from 1st April,
2017 to 31st December, 2017 were HK$292,000.00 and
HK$1,938,600.00 respectively. The consideration paid under the
Sub-Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from 1st June, 2017
to 31st December, 2017 was HK$855,400.00. The aggregate
consideration paid under the Sub-Tenancy Agreements for the
year ended 31st December, 2017 was HK$3,086,000.00.

Considerations of the Sub-Tenancy Agreements include rent,
management and air-conditioning charges.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

AGL is the holding company and hence an associate of APL (which
is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company). Dalian UAF is a subsidiary of SHK, which in turn is
a subsidiary of APL, and hence an associate of APL. SHKIS is set
up under Sun Hung Kai Investment Services Limited (a subsidiary
of an associate of SHK), and hence also an associate of APL. AP
Administration is a subsidiary of APL and hence an associate of APL.
Therefore, AGL, APL, SHK, Dalian UAF, SHKIS and AP Administration
are regarded as connected persons of the Company. Accordingly,
the entering into of the Services Agreement, the Leasing Agreements,
the Sub-Tenancy Agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The transaction
regarding the sharing of the Administrative Services is fully exempt
under Rules 14A.73(8) and 14A.98 of the Listing Rules. The
transactions contemplated under the Leasing Agreements and the Sub-
Tenancy Agreements are subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
Whereas, the transaction regarding the sharing of the Management
Services are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions regarding (i) the sharing of the
Management Services; and (ii) the transactions contemplated under
the Leasing Agreements and the Sub-Tenancy Agreements, and have
confirmed that the transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the respective agreements governing the transactions

on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transaction regarding the sharing of the Management
Services and the continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Leasing Agreements and the Sub-Tenancy Agreements in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued his unqualified letter confirming that nothing has come
to his attention that cause him to bring to the attention of the Board
pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

OTHER INFORMATION
Financial assistance to affiliated companies

Since that the financial assistance by the Group to affiliated
companies and guarantees given by the Group for facilities granted
to affiliated companies together in aggregate exceeded 8% under the
assets ratio defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules continued
to exist as at 31st December, 2017, the Group is required to comply
with Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of unaudited combined statements of financial position of those
affiliated companies prepared from their financial statements as at
31st December, 2017 and adjusted, where appropriate, to conform

with the Group’s accounting policies:

TR
HK$’000

FEMENEE Non-current assets 19,005,491
mENEE Current assets 21,429,507
MENEE Current liabilities (13,105,005)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (14,270,633)
FEPERR A A Non-controlling interests (114,990)
BERE Net assets 12,944,370
AEEEGEEEFE Net assets attributable to the Group 5,349,335
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Qualified
Professionals

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 31st December, 2017, the Group including its subsidiaries
but excluding associates and joint ventures, employed 1,980 (31st
December, 2016: 2,113) persons. The Group maintains a policy of
paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.
The Group recognises the importance of continuing professional
education and development, and appropriate courses are arranged on
a periodical basis as well as subsidies are granted to employees who
take job-related courses.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2017 is listed below:

REEFEHSE
University
Graduates

55 AT
Age 55 or Below

55B M L
Age Over 55

B 28 (85%) 29 (88%) 14 (42%) 19 (58%)
Hong Kong

#ip 21 (95%) 22 (100%) 19 (86%) 3 (14%)
Northern China

R 79 (65%) 93 (77%) 108 (89%) 13 (11%)
Eastern China

EacTea) 26 (46%) 31 (55%) 49 (92%) 4 (8%)

Southern China

Hat - BN ETFRERBABRSR ZBD T

ENBEE T NASE TSR EREE -
REREBABEIRE  BEFIIRET
HMmSHEENEHETHRAEH 2T
ABHMESFREAMBRERMTEI2 - 1370
43 °

FREFRMKER

RERN REBZARURFS ZHERFE MK
SRS AR HEE 2 KEBEES A ARER
HE AR MR BREA9% M 12% °

BESRA - FAARBERITRMDAEGE%IA
ENBEE - FEZETHRA SRR IL &
RAKESAAUHEEBE I EFERIANESR

MR o

Note: The numbers in bracket show the percentage of management staff in the
region.

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference
to notes 12, 13 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 9% and 12% of the
Group's sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31st December, 2017, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$1,162,000 during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 52.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2018



92

Annual Report 2017

B Y &% BAERE

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
103 to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

BREZEER

Key audit matter

EMRELTEERRERSAZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRRYE BRRTYEFRURCRIVNEFE 2ME
Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties

wrs BEREZHERVE(HERDE]) - HRT
MEFE((BRRTVEDRERIVEEFE([HEEY
XDEESBERERSZE  AABEFRERMEZAIKE
SENMNERTMERMHEN R 2 A BRFE([ 7] B F
EBEDFREBRAM R -_FT—tF+-_A=+—H8 &
EEBERFERERYE3485361,00087T - HERPWE
1,762,245,0007% 7T R $5 & 1 53,557,462,00078 7T (41 1
(%) - BmESLRFPEARKMBE(TFHE]) - FE
KOBM

We identified the valuation of the Group’s properties for
development (“PFD”), inventories of properties under
development (“PUD”) and inventories of completed
properties (“PFS”) as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgments involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount of PFD and the net realisable
value (“NRV”) of PUD and PFS. As at 31st December,
2017, the Group had PFD of HK$3,485,361,000, PUD
of HK$1,762,245,000 and PFS of HK$3,557,462,000
(collectively referred to the “Properties”), all of which
are situated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), Hong Kong and Australia.

HPEHEEERBHGGFERYE  BRTOMELEHED
X BEZMEERFEE

Our procedures in relation to evaluating management’s
assessment of the valuation of PFD, PUD and PFS
included:

o FHAEHEEZBED - ENREFEIM
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

s FBRUBEBBTEMLRTSEE  HAEGBETER
E2H \BE(BEYEDTE  BHREE FHEHE
M E IR KA SR Z BRR R ) 2 AT

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques and the significant inputs including
properties market price, gross development value,
developer’s profit and discount rate adopted by
management and the Valuers by comparing to
entity-specific information and market data;

s EBHBERGERMENRERDPMEZMEETARKK
A BEREBUMEBERFAERA - MR GEZ
RAZ &Y &

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
cost to completion of PFD and PUD, on a sample
basis, by comparing them to actual development
costs of similar properties of the Group; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMRELTRERRERSERZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREVE  BRVYEFEURECRIVEFE ZMEE
(%)

Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties (continued)

BEEREBEAEREENGE([FHEE])ET2EE
BEERERDEZANOSELRERTYEZ ATHIRF
B - HERERIREEEHEB 2 ETERGAEE - &
RERAE FAEHIENRBIRE - I BEEES
Z BEXECRITEB ZERRABKAGATRFRRY
ENBERPYEZRERA o

Management determined the recoverable amount of PFD
and the NRV of PUD based on valuations performed
by independent and qualified professional valuers (the
“Valuers”). The valuations are dependent on certain
significant inputs that involve management’s judgments,
including gross development value, developer’s profit
and discount rate. In addition, management estimated
future cost to completion of PFD and PUD with
reference to the actual development cost of the Group’s
completed projects.

BEEEEATHEER  8RETE - T8RN Z8RE
B Z B MEREN S UNEMG T ER - K2EH
HEMEZAAMEEEHEEMER I TERFE -
Management determined the NRV of PFS with reference
to the estimated market prices of PFS, which takes into
account a number of factors including recent prices
achieved for similar property types in the same project
or by similar properties in the PRC, Hong Kong and
Australia.

ERNEREZHE BE_T—tFt-A=+—HILF
- NS Y% 2 RERE1,020,000/8 TR B R o
Based on management’s assessment, the reversal of
write-down of PFS of HK$1,020,000 was recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31st December, 2017.

s BBSERABABULBMEMGZONMENGE
EBEEMAREENEZAENEEBZERE - BRERE
B BEREXBLPE - BEERMNEHETS
ZIERE - SHEEEEMA A ELBME ERE -

e Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
selling prices of PFS used by management with
reference to recent market prices achieved in
the same projects or by comparable properties,
including an evaluation of the appropriateness of
the comparable properties used by management
based on our knowledge of the Group’s businesses
and the real estate markets in the PRC, Hong Kong
and Australia.
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REWMRE 2 GE

Valuation of investment properties

BRPERREMEZHERBERERSZR - RESEER
EGEVBRRERME 2 EZMNERETAAEEBIR
EE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments associated with
determining the fair value.

BN EMIERERM T 17ARE - EEEZREDE
BURPE EEREBEZRAE 355 FXEM
KBE RZT—+tF+A=1+—HZA2REEAR
13,100,399,0008 7T °

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties which
represent office buildings, car parking spaces, residential
units and hotel located in the PRC, Hong Kong and
the United Kingdom were carried at fair value of
HK$13,100,399,000 as at 31st December, 2017.

HPIERFHE R E MR 2 AEZ R F B -
Our procedures in relation to evaluating the valuation of
investment properties included:

o FHAEHEEZBED RO REFEIML
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

o EMMEMZBEBELITE  MEMHIRR - A
EMFRMCEZRE  HEMAZ@ERABRENEE
Ep AU

e Understanding the Valuers’ valuation process and
methodologies, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and key inputs used in the
valuations;
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REMEZEEE)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

ERBZMARENEDZZFGEMET ZAERAAE
BEEE - HEDE HEMRZEZERINIEHABE
ZHBREEMBRRMT7HRE - HERBRSRE
BEAH oA TERBRRRIZHAME  SRFHER
K ERDHRE  @EREMC2TSEMES  mIHEAH
EFRRFAER RN RRERFR

All of the Group’s investment properties are measured
at fair value with reference to the valuations performed
by the Valuers. Details of the valuation techniques,
significant assumptions and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuations are dependent
on certain significant assumptions and key inputs that
involve management’s judgments, including term yield,
reversionary yield, market unit rent of individual unit,
market unit sales rate and developer’s profit and risk
rate.

o HETERBZEMBRZAEME Rk
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions to industry norms; and

s BRUBEBBEZAHREMSHE FHEEER
AHERRPT RN 2R ABUR 2RI -

e Assessing reasonableness of the key inputs adopted
by management and the Valuers by comparing to
entity-specific information and market data.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEMNBARAR—BEELX2MEE

Disposal of subsidiaries and valuation of a joint venture

BPERLEMNBRAR Wl —HAEEXZEER
MREZZE RARZTRINGAVBHRRZER
- RRGHOMESNEREHEABERNLER &
AFELERER  RTRERESR —HALLEZE
mZAREBE - BIEE W ERRMT7ARE - REE
"t HF+ A=t HILEFER  AEBEAEFTER
1,142,118,000/8 T HH &R — R B A R 280 2 B - %M
BRRFAE —HRPEEMKL - UAERAEREYES
R RBZ50%BHE - U RERSBORRERT — 2B
F=F - HEWMBARZHE1,633,977,0008 TR HETE
PRESHERR © SR T 50% 2 i  BEARIK S —HKE AR
FE o Bt REETK - BERBERBOBTRENS—
ReELtX(AELEAR]]) -

We identified gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
valuation of a joint venture as a key audit matter due
to the significance of the amount to the consolidated
financial statements and the nature of transaction that
involves management’s judgments in determining the
fair value of the remaining interest retained as interest
in a joint venture subsequent to the disposal when
calculating the gain on disposal. As disclosed in note
7 to the consolidated financial statements, during the
year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interests in a subsidiary which held
a 50% equity interest in the PRC-established company
which is engaged in property development in the
PRC and assigned part of the shareholders’ loans to
an independent third party with the total proceeds of
HK$1,142,118,000. Gain on disposal of subsidiaries of
HK$1,633,977,000 was recognised upon completion of
the disposal. The remaining 50% equity interest is owned
by another subsidiary of the Company. As a result, the
remaining interest retained by the Group becomes a
joint venture (“JV Company”) upon completion of the
disposal.

HMARLEMBAR L —MeEbE 2 MEZRFBHE
Our procedures in relation to the disposal of subsidiaries
and valuation of a joint venture included:

o EMLEMBARNEERHEMIINFE  UEHA
EEEAELEWE A RREAREKE

e Reviewing the details set out in the sale and
purchase agreement for the disposal of subsidiaries
and understanding management’s rationale in
calculating the gain on disposal of subsidiaries;

s HEEEEREE BESER-HAZLEZRERE
B ARBESAZTAZERERERBRRZA
B

e Assessing the appropriateness of methodology and
reasonableness of significant assumptions used by
management in determining the fair value of the
Group's retained interest in a joint venture;
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEMBARAR—BEELE2EEE)
Disposal of subsidiaries and valuation of a joint venture
(continued)

RHER  EtEHENRE  AREFRZREEZ BV R
SEAF10RREHBERRIBER LR ARZRE
REMAA(EE AEERLLERR(EEREERER
ERMERERTNEFE)NAAEE  BEREKREFS
BhER 2 7¥fh - LEREEREEEL AN BERAEM
BABEBERERHE - WREMGEERT RS AR
BRAERASE - REETEENE  CHERRYE
BRRTVEGTEREERBEL AR BERE -

On the disposal date, the Group was required to
determine the fair value of the retained interest
in the JV Company in accordance with HKFRS 10
“Consolidated Financial Statements” when arriving the
gain on disposal. In determining the fair value of the
JV Company for which its underlying assets include
properties for development and inventories of properties
under development, management relied on the valuation
performed by the Valuer. In particular, the determination
of the fair value of these assets was complex and
required significant judgments by management to
ensure the valuation techniques and inputs used were
reasonable and supportable. Based on management’s
assessment, fair value adjustments were made to
properties for development, inventories of properties
under development and deferred taxation.

o MERHERIZEBSED - RO REEIL
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;

o ERFEMZEEBRRENRIE  MEMSZREA 4
BN CERRBR - HEMAZERAE RS NEE
2o ARE

e Understanding the Valuer’s valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and key inputs used in the
valuation;

o HHETERBZINERBRZAEE Rk
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodology
and assumptions to industry norms; and

s BRUBEBFEEMNTSERE FHHERE R
REFT RN T RBABURZ A -

e Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuer by
comparing to entity-specific information and market
data.
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REPIEAREMBREME - RANEER
FIEEMEN  MEEEMENRLS RES
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Rt - HAAREEREE - 5t - HABE
fEHIIRE ©

EEREAERREMBBRRARE
HEE
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SEERIZIELE - SR 2N EE A E
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SEHE ©
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BERERARER

TE]

BERENMBHREERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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o THRERERENABES - AREE
MEZRT  EYIETESH E%IW%E
ZHRINERILERER -

o FHEEEMEBETHRMNBE M RIED
SETAT AR RN AR -

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kuen.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2018
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2017 2016
Bt e FET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 5 1,112,881 1,894,465
HEMRA Cost of sales (504,974) (1,228,083)
EF Gross profit 607,907 666,382
HABWA ez Other income and gains 6 149,944 598,314
TSRO EER Marketing and distribution expenses (86,850) (76,949)
THER Administrative expenses (305,972) (295,985)
Hih&EBA Other operating expenses (105,485) (100,903)
BIEEERENAEBEZ  Net decrease in fair value of held-for-
SR trading investments (15,444) (245)
BERIVEFTEERE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
REWEZ AR EE of completed properties to investment
& properties 17 115,313 116,257
WEWEAREEBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
2 properties 17 338,453 1,835
EBTYHEFE Reversal of (write-down of) inventories of
BER D ORE) completed properties 1,020 (2,526)
3 IES Amortisation of properties for
i3] development (35,802) (54,857)
HERM B Qa2 M Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 7 1,633,977 3,937,675
HEWENBARZWZE  Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries 8 60,856 1,588,570
BB Finance costs 9 (153,841) (179,817)
FE(REE N E) R Share of profit of associates 99,148 12,169
JEMEEEBERT Share of profit of joint ventures 253,219 89,984
M FR R & A Profit before tax 2,556,443 6,299,904
I Taxation 10 (464,337) (591,656)
INEE A Profit for the year 11 2,092,106 5,708,248
AEEGER(EBE)EWNTF © Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
77N i g Owners of the Company 2,054,142 5,712,954
eI s Non-controlling interests 37,964 (4,706)
2,092,106 5,708,248
B IT BIT
HK$ HK$
AT Earnings per share 14
HAK Basic 1.36 3.79
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BE-Z—+F+-_A=t—RALFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

2017 2016
THExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
IR i A Profit for the year 2,092,106 5,708,248
HErmEkm(ER) Other comprehensive income (expense)
TEEFHOHEEERN Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
IEH
BERENEMMmES Exchange differences arising on translation to
ERER presentation currency 575,923 (768,864)
ELEE N R A EDRE  Share of other comprehensive income (expense)
ZHmEEkE(EBR) of associates and joint ventures 113,986 (99,623)
REBREREMERZ Surplus on revaluation of properties and
M RIENEER prepaid lease payments upon transfer to
BLAH investment properties 10,007 88
RER SIS EYER 2 Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
MEE G2 IRIT properties upon transfer to
BiIE s S investment properties (6,848) (22)
693,068 (868,421)
BEiRRIRE BN DR Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
B=MIER profit or loss:
MEBINEBELZ Exchange differences arising on translation of
ERER foreign operation 19,231 -
AEHEEREANBEY Net change in fair value of available-for-sale
R investments (119,376) (61,313)
AEHERE 7 REER Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments
NEEEE classified to profit or loss 78,168 -
REERHHERERT Revaluation reserves released upon disposal of
FIN T8 T B available-for-sale investments to profit or loss _ (202,667)
JEMR AT HERE Deferred tax effect on share of change in
DREBEEZEH fair value of available-for-sale
IEEFIE 7 s/ 28 investments 2,338 19,167
(19,639) (244,813)
AEFEMEEWE(EA) Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year 673,429 (1,113,234)
AFEE2EINEREE Total comprehensive income for the year 2,765,535 4,595,014
2EW=(ER)EE Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year
JE1ETT - attributable to:
ViN/NET ) ) Owners of the Company 2,725,766 4,600,896
IR R Non-controlling interests 39,769 (5,882)

2,765,535 4,595,014
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At 31st December, 2017
2017 2016
Bt e TExT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
VI - B MR Property, plant and equipment 16 258,871 399,357
REME Investment properties 17 13,100,399 10,862,281
FREYE Properties for development 18 3,485,361 1,999,170
W R Deposits for acquisition of properties for
& development 236,196 165,862
THF R TENHEFK  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 19 58,281 78,678
Hih B E - FEn Other assets — properties interests 18,142 17,815
N AN W T Interests in associates 20 2,939,345 3,565,352
REEPE s Interests in joint ventures 21 2,950,262 2,167,330
FEWE TR Loans receivable 28 122,972 116,250
AEHERE Available-for-sale investments 22 292,370 371,553
FRIEFIAE = Deferred tax assets 38 98,698 72,736
23,560,897 19,816,384
MENEE Current assets
MEGFE Inventories of properties 23
— R — under development 1,762,245 1,890,234
—B%T — completed 3,557,462 3,557,606
Hibiz & Other inventories 24 1,952 686
R NCIUNE Amounts due from associates 25 223,992 6,488
BERERNR Amounts due from joint ventures 26 1,789,769 994,782
FRERA R Amounts due from non-controlling
R shareholders 27 18,832 17,986
U E TR Loans receivable 28 664,471 406,813
R 5 R H M FERERFK - Trade and other receivables, deposits and
e RIEMR prepayments 29 441,271 394,934
THFEAEZTBNIEFR  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 19 898 886
BIEEERE Held-for-trading investments 30 81,527 98,217
TESF 1A Prepaid tax 84,170 52,175
FA1ERIR Z SRIT1F R Pledged bank deposits 44 186,202 269,786
RITEF MRS Bank balances and cash 4,782,753 4,330,115
13,595,544 12,020,708
NERFEEE Assets classified as held for sale 31 - 1,854,742
13,595,544 13,875,450
REBAE Current liabilities
X5 M E b FETBR IR Trade and other payables 32 1,536,349 1,472,025
BERS Pre-sale deposits 2,491,148 1,681,943
HEaE Tax liabilities 1,182,993 1,030,401
P BE K Interest-bearing borrowings 33 865,566 1,064,869
REMENK Interest-free borrowings 34 20,281 219,895
6,096,337 5,469,133
DEAFEEEY Liabilities associated with assets classified
HEaE as held for sale 31 = 1,382,110
6,096,337 6,851,243
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REBBMRR X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE—+F+-_A=+—H
At 31st December, 2017

2017 2016
Bt TExT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
REEETFE Net current assets 7,499,207 7,024,207
HEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 31,060,104 26,840,591
BAR#EE Capital and reserves
R 7R Share capital 35 3,788,814 3,788,814
G Reserves 36 19,636,466 17,724,397
RABIRREGEZ Equity attributable to owners of the
Rz Company 23,425,280 21,513,211
IR 2 Non-controlling interests 1,459,760 538,184
ERBE Total equity 24,885,040 22,051,395
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
[{OPSRI=E N Interest-bearing borrowings 33 3,513,564 2,451,281
—ZMPZIEIEA S WA Deferred rental income from a tenant 37 33,845 40,405
MEzHeES Rental deposits from tenants 15,932 25,813
FEEFRITBEE Deferred tax liabilities 38 2,611,723 2,271,697
6,175,064 4,789,196

31,060,104 26,840,591

HHENEI103BEEF243B 236 HHMEREMN  The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 243 were
—E )\ F=ZAFTANHAKESSRBRITEL  approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16th

*x 0 WA TIHIEEREREE March, 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau

R BEh

Director Director

EFE EF
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RERERBF X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE 2T +F+-A=T—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

ARARR S
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRRE  TPER AR
e Special  Exchange  EffEE  HtEE  ZHEA Non-  B&ER
Share capital  translation  Revaluation Other  Retained @t controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves reserves  earnings Total interests Equity
TR TR T TR TR TR TR TR TERL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hf&E36)
(note 36)
RZZ-"§-A-H At 1st January, 2016 3,768,814 1417669 1,119,389 342,732 (46,053) 10,515,779 17,138,330 16,008 17,154,338
HERRFIEBHEL . Exchange differences arising on
EHEE translation to presentation currency - - (767,688) - - - (767,688) (1,176) (768,804)
EHERARAELEL  Share of other comprehensive expense of
AZAER associates and joint veniures - - (99623 - - - (99623 - (9963)
W%E REMEEL Net change in fair value of available-for-
28 sale investments - - - (61,313) - - (61,313) - (61,313)
REETHEERER Released upon disposal of available-for-
TRRES sale investments to profit or loss - - - (202,667) - - (202,667) - (202,667)
AHEERENAEEL Deferred tax effect on change in fair
B ELRE T2 value of available-for-sale investments - - - 19,167 - - 19,167 - 19,167
RERZRENERZ Surplus on revaluation of properties and
MERENHER prepaid lease payments upon transfer
BffRH to investment properties - - - 88 - - 88 - 88
REEZRENERZ Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
NEEfRZER properties upon transfer to investment
HEZRE properties - - - (22) - - 02) - )
REEEF(BE) Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 5712954 5,712,954 (4,706) 5,708,248
FEERE(ER) Total comprehensive (expense) income
leaats for the year - - (867,311) (244,747) - 571295 4,600,896 (5,882) 4,595,014
YEEHB AT Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Hits) (note 8) - - - - - - - 502,393 502,393
REENBAARER Transfer on disposal of subsidiaries
s7) (note 7) - - W S8 (17,246) S 5665 25665
REEASPEEER Transfer on disposal of joint ventures - - 3,683 - - (3,683) - - -
REAE Dividend recognised as distribution
(#rts) (note 15) - - - - - (226015 (226,015) - (226015
RZZ—AEFZA=+-8  At31st December, 2016 3788814 417,660 232,124 97,985 (5,170) 15981789 21513211 538,184 22,051,395
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-ZT—+F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017
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AnARRER
Attributable to owners of the Company
B E
B4R TERE FERER
e Special  Exchange  EfifE  EtRE  RHEN Non-  EzfE
Share capital  translation  Revaluation Other ~ Retained @zt controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves reserves earnings Total interests Equity
TR TET TET TR TR THT TiER TR TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(H&E36)
(note 36)
RZZ—t%5-A-A At Tst January, 2017 3,788,814 1,417,669 232,124 97,985 (5,170) 15,981,789 21,513,211 538,184 22,051,395
HERZFIRBHEL. Exchange differences arising on
EiER translation to presentation currency = = 575,005 = = = 575,005 918 575,923
BEENEREL, Exchange differences arising on
EAZR translation of foreign operation - - 19,231 - - - 19,231 - 19,231
EEBERARAEREZ  Share of other comprehensive income of
Ef2EkE associates and joint ventures = - 113,986 = = - 113,986 - 113,986
IRNEREDL BEZ Net change in fair value of available-for-
F2 sale investments - - - (119,915) - - (119,915) 539 (119,376)
NEHERE RESE Impairment loss on available-for-sale
PEZER investments classified to profit or loss - - - 78,168 - - 78,168 - 78,168
RIERERLBEL Deferred tax effect on change in fair value
2 ELRE T2 of available-for-sale investments = = = 2,338 = = 2,338 = 2,338
RERERENER Surplus on revaluation of properties and
NEREAHER prepaid lease payments upon transfer to
Bt investment properties - - - 8,764 - - 8,764 1,243 10,007
RERZRENERY Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
NEERZER properties upon transfer to
ihbd 74 investment properties - - - (5,953) - - (5,953) (895) (6,848)
RERRR Profit for the year = = = = - 2,054,142 2,054,142 37,964 2,092,106
AEERENE Total comprehensive income
(BR)eE (expense) for the year - - 708,222 (36,598) - 2,054,142 2,725,766 39,769 2,765,535
WEHBARM2s) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 8) = - - - - - - 177,895 177,895
RIEE-TANELRARER  Transfer on disposal of a subsidiary
(Hit7) (note 7) - - 23,176 - - (23176) - - -
RHE-FBELEMEE  Transfer on disposal of an associate - - (11,305) - - 11,305 - - -
HBHBE-FNAEREZ  Partial disposal of a subsidiary without
MEARH:E) loss of control (Note) - - - - (325,131) - (325,131) 814,831 489,700
—FBADE Share repurchased and cancelled
RDEE R of a subsidiary = = = = 1,134 = 1,134 (3,865) (2,731)
RESE Dividend recognised as distribution
(Hiitis) (note 15) - = = = - (489,700)  (489,700) - (489,700)
REDEF Dividend distributed to non-controlling
FEREE interests = = = = = = - (107,054  (107,054)
RZZ—tFT-A=1—H At31st December, 2017 3,788,814 1,417,669 952,217 61,387 (329,167) 17,534,360 23,425,280 1,459,760 24,885,040

Bt REBE—T—+tF+_A=+—BHLEEER ' &
SEE B IREARE (R 155 E) 9 IRN
FHEARAR([EEE] - ATBARIER AR
RAENI15.77%Z RHE - FERIRB 2 AR BEEIE
7 AR A 25 AR A 8 0 2 Al 2. 325,131,000 7T =
EEEENEERZ H M EEER o

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group distributed its
15.77% equity interest in Asiasec Properties Limited (“ASL”, formerly known
as Dan Form Holdings Company Limited) through distribution of special
dividend as disclosed in note 15. The difference of HK$325,131,000 between
the fair value of the special dividend and the increase in carrying amount of
the non-controlling interests had been recognised directly in equity under
other reserves.
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mERERB K
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HE-_Z—+F+-_A=1+—HIFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017
2017 2016
Bt EE FExT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BEXK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B A a Profit before taxation 2,556,443 6,299,904
A Adjustments for:
H A R Wezs Other income and gains
— R EUA - Dividend income (3,253) (6,277)
—RITIER R EH — Interest income on bank deposits
B B A and loans receivable (76,216) (108,680)
—REEEREZ — Interest income from
FBUA joint ventures (22,252) (102,952)
—REEAHEE — Revaluation reserves released upon
KRERMELR disposal of available-for-sale
Z EfhfEE investments - (202,667)
AHEEREZ Impairment loss on available-for-sale

JBEE R investments 78,168 -
BIEEERE R NAEBEZ  Net decrease in fair value of held-for-

FR trading investments 15,444 245
—ZHEPZIRIERAES WA Deferred rental income from a tenant (8,461) (8,081)
ERTIYEFTEERS Fair value gain on transfer of inventories

BREWMEZ AREE of completed properties to investment

W properties (115,313) (116,257)
WEWEAREEBEZ Increase in fair value of investment

0 properties (338,453) (1,835)
B TYHEFE (Reversal of) write-down of inventories

CRERD)RE of completed properties (1,020) 2,526
RIZIRYERE Allowance for bad and doubtful debts 22,989 -
FE(EESE S N A A Share of profit of associates (99,148) (12,169)
e SRR Share of profit of joint ventures (253,219) (89,984)
BB RN Finance costs 153,841 179,817
e M 8 Depreciation and amortisation 58,677 82,170
HENB ARz W Gain on disposals of subsidiaries 7 (1,633,977) (3,937,675)
HEAEMEEIE Loss on disposal of joint ventures - 696
ZBUEMNEARZ Gain on bargain purchase of

Wz subsidiaries 8 (60,856) (1,588,570)
HENTHEYE - BEK  Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off of

Rz EE () property, plant and equipment 97 (120)

EEESEEI Operating cash inflows before movements

EIEIR S MA in working capital 273,491 390,091
WIS EIE N Increase in inventories of properties (829,008) (938,863)
HERYERINE Increase in properties for development and

fFERME deposits for acquisition of properties for

IR IE N development (140,114) (149,357)
HibrEEin Increase in other inventories (1,266) (1,350)
R R E b EERTR - (Increase) decrease in trade and other

B4 RIEA R (GE ) E receivables, deposits and prepayments (38,781) 488,158
RRE 2 RITETT Decrease (increase) in restricted bank

A () deposits 207,097 (632,311)
R 5 M E b EERFR Increase (decrease) in trade and other

H1 R A) payables 167,922 (300,509)
TEEZEIE N Increase in pre-sale deposits 733,909 439,918
HPzHeES R Decrease in rental deposits from tenants (11,096) (1,076)
B (BR)2EERK IS Cash from (used in) operations 362,154 (705,299)
B BEEH & THIEE  PRC income tax and Land Appreciation Tax

([ HHIBER ) RE®E  (“LAT”) and Hong Kong profits tax paid

PTiS# (148,114) (411,782)
RIS RR R PRC income tax refunded 3,011 148
KE(FAR)EEXEKE NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING

RE&EFEE ACTIVITIES 217,051 (1,116,933)




TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

110

FERETRBD X

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-ZT—+F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

2017 2016
iE=s THET T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BREXH INVESTING ACTIVITIES

EHE Interest received 110,108 204,312
PR EHL ATIRARE  Dividends received from associates 154,123 _
Bk A EEEMAE  Dividends received from joint ventures 9,047 14,869

BURERIHEHERER  Dividends received from available-for-sale

% & investments 3,253 1,889
BEYE - WEMEE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (21,659) (12,621)
HEWE - BB & Proceeds on disposal of property,

RIEPTIF plant and equipment 737 235
BEIREME Purchase of investment properties (694,722) (33,145)
XA HE R Payment of prepaid lease payments

TEREER on land use rights - 47)
HEREMEMRR Proceeds from disposal of investment

BEWME properties, net of value added tax 2,008 10,522
WEEMTB A REEZ Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions

ReFEMT of subsidiaries 8 (131,522) (2,518,068)
IR A ZEEE A A Capital contribution to associates (11,717) (197,647)
WiE—Ma Acquisition of a joint venture (18,072) (148,169)
BEHEEERE Purchase of held-for-trading investments (5,941) (268)
HEAHEERE Proceeds from disposal of

P available-for-sale investments = 480,000
HEREEERE Proceeds from disposal of

F1S held-for-trading investments 11,260 -
RKEHENBRARZ Net cash inflow from disposal of

REFERA subsidiaries 7 1,071,943 4,313,869
RELEGEREL Net cash outflow from disposal of joint

REFERT ventures = (9,502)
BERLEMBRARZ Deposits received in relation to disposal of

B ERE subsidiaries _ 44,888
EHENBRRZ Deposits refunded in relation to disposal of

Y Clbizecn subsidiaries (182,256) (325,000)
HEPEENR Advances to joint ventures (447,992) (473,365)
—EEERRER Repayment from a joint venture 266,230 238,663
PR AR R Repayment from non-controlling

B shareholders = 1,107
SRIEEN Loans repaid 364,047 316,229
HBTIER Loans advanced (625,153) (460,913)
FVEIRR 2 SR1T1F 2 2B Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 87,310 131
FVEIIR 2 R7T1F 3 ZFE A Placement of pledged bank deposits (3,721) (269,786)
(AR)RBREXHZ NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING

BEFE ACTIVITIES (62,689) 1,178,183
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HE-F—tF+-A=t—BIFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017
2017 2016
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ERFE Interest paid (186,189) (259,465)
AR E Dividend paid = (226,015)
BT IR AR Dividends paid to non-controlling
iz 8 shareholders (107,054) -
HERIT N EMER New bank and other loans raised 2,681,230 1,499,389
BRBIRTREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (1,868,741) (1,402,769)
i1 EYNS oG Share repurchased and cancelled of
o] 88 % 5 84 a subsidiary (2,731) -
REEE R RIEK Advances from associates - 7,712
KA (BE)AERE Advances from (repayment to) joint
fER ventures 10,789 (12)
R IEIE AR R B TR Repayment to non-controlling shareholders - (9,382)
$FiE)KE—A5%1%¥  (Repayment to) advance from a joint
INFEE IR venture partner (70,588) 70,588
R OREEE Repayment of membership debentures = (1,513)
KE(AR)BMEXEE 2 NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING
HeFE ACTIVITIES 456,716 (321,467)
BHeRBESEEER NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
BMORL ) FEE AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 611,078 (260,217)
R—A—B2ZHER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1ST
Re&EEER JANUARY 3,559,907 3,971,950
HNEE W MR IR B B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 23,796 (151,826)
W+=ZA=+—-B82 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31ST
ReERESEHEER DECEMBER 4,194,781 3,559,907
RERREEE ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
HE&FASW AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITEEFERRE Bank balances and cash 4,782,753 4,330,115
B B ZIRITEF Less: restricted bank deposits
(#az) (Note) (587,972) (795,069)
4,194,781 3,535,046
BIEENEAEEEE 7  Bank balances and cash included in assets
RITHETFRR® classified as held for sale = 24,861
4,194,781 3,559,907

Hrit - RRERTR/RFREBEERTEFELRE - ZAR
TRl REEAN I EN YR ERIAR -

Note:The restricted bank deposits are included in bank balances and cash which
can only be applied in the designated property development projects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z—+F+-_A=t—RALFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

1. #%3F

ARRR—RERBEMRLZ AR EMAR
AR ERDEBEBAXZAER AR (MH
RFr1) £ o AR BEM M ERI A TRRANZ =
REEMWENAFHR AR ER | —HPIRE -

ARBIREKBAR(GHEIAKE]) EZ2EE
MEZRRIRE  REBERYEEERKR
BER - ARBIZNHEER/ARK(AR
%) ARKEzZKRBNEBHEFEARKL
ME(THEDEE - GEMBHRRATEER
(B2 EEARBNINEEEHRT
Rl e ZRE|RRBZ LT - RABZES
([EX)R/ETIEREBZZ25E -

2. BRI REBITEEMBRE
ZR(TEBMBIREER D)

RAEERHENZEBHBEREER
CHES

RAFE  AEBEEEREA T BEESR
B rg([ZESTMAE )R 2B EMER
EHRRZERTA

ARG TERETRIETTA TEEE

BEGERF125ETA WAELEBERRELT
WBEE

BRI REEE125 {ERBBHBREER

BEIA “EMFEECFT

—NFREFE
W2 — B

BRTRFTaiE SN - NEE ARSI EER

ZEAHARERANFERE L BEFE 2
RARRRR RER G BHRRZBREL
BEATE -

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
which is also principal place of business of the Company is disclosed
in the “Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are property development
and investment, provision of hotel and property management and
investment holding. The functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi (“RMB”) as the Group conducts most of its operations in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in the currency of Hong Kong (“Hong
Kong Dollars”) which is different from the functional currency of the
Company, as the directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider that
Hong Kong Dollars is the most appropriate presentation currency in
view of its place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure Initiative

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT—+F+-_A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

2. BRAMAIREEIEEMBRE
ZR(TERMBREER D @)

BB ENE7REITRIBRE

REBERAFEFRERAZEEBEIAR - %iE
SIAERERBIELHE - UNEMBEmEAER
EFFMEREEED S BN E BEE (L - BER
®RIERSEE o WLHN - ZIBFTATNER - &
TREEMNREREELHER KRS RES
EIFARETDNRSRER  EBEARKZER
HAeREENES -

HERME @ RFEATAELBEETIIFIE ()
BERSR=ENE (i) ES SR ENB AT
S EA R TSI PSRV E B ¢ (iii)IMNERE X
BPMNXE (VAR BENES  R(v)EftE
&) o

BRAZ SR B R REIRER 2 HRREN M
46 ° BEFTARZ@IRIRX — B » AR E A M|
BEFHNLERER - R4 2 BRIMNREIN
ERZFEF AL BEBHAREGE B HRKE
PR E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments also require
disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash flows from those
financial assets were, or future cash flows will be, included in cash
flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be disclosed: (i)
changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining
or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v)
other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these
items is provided in note 46. Consistent with the transition provisions
of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative
information for the prior year. Apart from the additional disclosure in
note 46, the application of these amendments has had no impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40
Amendments to HKFRSs

2w oN o

Financial Instruments!

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments!

Leases?

Insurance Contracts*

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration!

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions!

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts!

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle!

Transfers of Investment Property’
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-
2017 Cycle2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021

BT XTI $aT MR ERT B F5 S R
S - ERTEHAEA A A FTR] RAE BRI A
MR EE R RERA BRI e HERS
MBMFEREATE -

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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HE-ZT—+F+-_A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

2. BRAMIREEITEBMBRE
ZR(TERMBREER D @)

BRMBHELEAERERMTA

BEMBRELENFIORSIARSREE &
MEBEZOENGE  —REFPSTERER
BERBEEROIRE

EASEERNTEMBRELENFIRMNE

s MABEYBHEEREIRBEANMALD
ERNEREE - HRGBERBHKAK
AREEE - ABME - §EAKIE
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge
accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

e All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS
9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have
contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”). All other financial
assets are measured at their fair value at subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

e In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires
an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit
loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management
policies as at 31st December, 2017, the Directors of the Company
anticipate the following potential impact on initial application of
HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement:

e Debt instruments classified as loan receivables carried at
amortised cost as disclosed in note 28: these are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding. Accordingly, these financial assets will
continue to be subsequently measured at amortised cost upon the
application of HKFRS 9;

e Equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments
carried at fair value as disclosed in note 22: these securities
qualified for designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS
9, however, the fair value gains or losses accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve amounting to HK$43,024,000 as
at Tst January, 2018 will no longer be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss under HKFRS 9, which is different from the current
treatment. This will affect the amounts recognised in the Group’s
profit or loss and other comprehensive income but will not affect
total comprehensive income;

e All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to
be measured on the same bases as are currently measured under
HKAS 39.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Impairment

In general, the Directors anticipate that the application of the
expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result in earlier provision
of credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group's
financial assets measured at amortised costs and other items that
subject to the impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by
the Group.

Based on the assessment by the Directors, if the expected credit loss
model were to be applied by the Group, the accumulated amount of
impairment loss to be recognised by Group as at 1st January, 2018
would not be significantly different to the accumulated amount
recognised under HKAS 39.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to
the identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent
considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The Directors have assessed the impact on application of HKFRS 15
and did not anticipate a material impact on the Group’s revenue.
However, the application of HKFRS 15 may have impact on the
following area:

e As at31st December, 2017, the Group received pre-sale
deposits amounting to HK$2,491,148,000 from customer for
sales of inventories of properties. Under HKFRS 15, when the
timing of payments is different from the timing of revenue
recognition, the customer may be providing the Group with
financing. Accordingly, the Group will need to accrue interest
expenses over the financing period when the period exceeds
one year. The Directors expect the recognition of significant
financing component would have potential financial impacts
on the opening retained profit, inventories of properties under
development and pre-sale deposits of the Group at 1st January,
2018.

In addition, the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in
more disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors intend to apply the limited retrospective method with
cumulative effect of initial application recognised in opening balance
of equity at 1st January, 2018.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and
lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions
of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by
lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst
others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
cash flows by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee.
The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in
classification of these assets depending on whether the Group
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at
which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December, 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$4,126,000 as disclosed in note 39. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in
respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$1,031,000 and refundable rental deposits received of
HK$102,286,000 as rights and obligations under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to
use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such
deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be included in the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received
would be considered as advance lease payments.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The amendments are to be applied prospectively to transactions
occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined. The Directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 may have an impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in future periods should
such transactions arise.

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment
property necessitates an assessment of whether a property meets, or
has ceased to meet, the definition of investment property, supported
by observable evidence that a change in use has occurred. The
amendments further clarify that situations other than the ones listed in
HKAS 40 may evidence a change in use, and that a change in use is
possible for properties under construction. For example, change in use
for transfer from properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business to investment properties could be evidenced by
inception of an operating lease to another party. The Group transfers
of investment properties as disclosed in note 17 and accounts for such
transfer only upon commencement of an operating lease currently.

The Directors anticipate that the application of these amendments
will result in early recognition of such transfers on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in future periods should there be a
change in use of any of its properties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated to use another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equal the
transaction price.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories
of properties under development for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land,
development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.
Inventories of properties are transferred to investment properties at fair
value when there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
an operating lease. The difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value at the date of transfer is recognised directly in profit or
loss.

Properties for development

Properties for development is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises the
consideration for acquisition of land use rights and other costs are
directly attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition
necessary for it to be capable of development of the properties. The
consideration for acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold
land held for future development. The costs that are directly
attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of development of the properties are capitalised as
costs of properties for development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated to use tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax is recognised to profit or loss, except when
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties include
land held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for
capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair value. All of the
Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and-accounted for
as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment will
be made when there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement
of owner occupation. Transfer from investment property to property
under development will be made where there is a change in use,
evidence by the commencement of construction for property for
sale. For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to
owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent
accounting are determined by reference to its fair value at the date of
change in use.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another
party. The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount
at the date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.

Impairment losses

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment losses (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of tax and
discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities, as described below.

Income from properties developed for sale is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed and the properties have been
delivered to the purchasers and collectibility of related receivables is
reasonably assured. Profit or loss arising from the outright sale of an
entire development property prior to completion is recognised when
a binding sales contract becomes unconditional and the risks and
rewards of the ownership have been transferred to the buyer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Sales of other goods are recognised when goods are delivered and
title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s
rights to receive payment have been established.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests are having a deficit
balance.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group'’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary are attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19
“Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that has previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
to use uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Appropriate
adjustments have been made to conform to the associate’s and the joint
venture’s accounting policies to those of the Group. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with HKAS 39.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal
of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly are attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or loss
when the financial assets is (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, or (iii) contingent consideration
that may be received by an acquirer as part of a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; or

e it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available for sales or are not classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as available-
for-sale and are traded in an active market are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period except for unquoted equity
investments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Changes
in the carrying amount of available-for-sale debt instruments relating
to interest income calculated, using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group'’s
right to receive the dividends is established. Other changes in the
carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of revaluation reserves. When the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For the other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

e significant financial difficulties of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for indicators of impairment on a collective basis.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been the impairment which has
not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-

free borrowings, trade and other payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying value on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Land and buildings transferred from investment properties are stated
at deemed cost equal to its fair value at the date of change in use. The
transferred properties are depreciated over their unexpired lease term.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment less their residual value over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease term or
40 years, whichever is shorter
Leasehold improvements 20% — 30% or over the lease term,

whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixture and equipment  20% — 33%
and motor vehicles
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed as evidenced by the end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and
its fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leasing (continued)
Leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property is
accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments on land
use rights” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the
entire property is generally classified as if the leasehold land is under
finance lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on
foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation which are attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to retained earnings.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the
asset (disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such asset (or disposal group). Management must be committed
to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured, using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the investment property portfolios of the Group and
its joint ventures and concluded that investment properties held by
the Group and its joint ventures are not held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather
than through sale. Therefore, in determining the deferred taxation
on investment properties of the Group and its joint ventures, the
Directors have determined that the “sales” presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a
result, the Group has recognised the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is subject to income taxes
and LAT on the fair value changes of the investment properties on
disposal.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Valuation of properties for development and inventories of
properties

Properties for development of HK$3,485,361,000 (2016:
HK$1,999,170,000) are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any identified impairment loss, while inventories of properties
of HK$5,319,707,000 (2016: HK$5,447,840,000) are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The management determined
the recoverable amounts of properties for development and the net
realisable value of inventories of properties under development
based on valuations performed by the independent and qualified
professional valuers. The valuations are dependent on certain
significant inputs that involve the management’s judgments,
including gross development value, developer’s profit and discount
rate. Besides, the management estimated future cost to completion
of properties for development and inventories of properties under
development with reference to the actual development cost of the
Group’s completed projects.

The management determined the net realisable value of inventories
of completed properties with reference to the estimated market prices
of inventories of completed properties, which takes into account
a number of factors including recent prices achieved for similar
property types in the same project or by similar properties in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Based on the management’s assessment, the reversal of write-down of
inventories of completed properties of HK$1,020,000 was recognised
in profit or loss for the year ended 31st December, 2017.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements on retained interest in a joint venture
resulting from disposal of subsidiaries

As stated in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group disposed of its entire equity interests in a subsidiary which
held a 50% equity interest in a PRC-established company which is
engaged in property development in the PRC and its remaining 50%
equity interest is owned by another subsidiary of the Group. As a
result, the remaining interest of the Group becomes a joint venture
(“JV Company”) on completion of the disposal. On disposal date,
the management was required to determine the fair value of interest
retained in accordance with HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements” when arriving the gain on disposal. The determination
of the fair value of the underlying assets of the ]V Company can be
complex and requires significant judgements by the management to
ensure the valuation techniques and inputs used are reasonable and
supportable. Where there are any changes on inputs of valuation, a
change on gain on disposal of subsidiary may arise.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The Directors have to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments.

When determine the fair values of investment properties, assumptions
and key inputs that involve significant judgements, including term
yield, revisionary yield and market unit rent, were adopted.

Note 17 provided detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of
the fair value of various assets.

Land appreciation tax

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including sales charges,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation
have been announced by local tax bureaux in certain major
cities, however, the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with local tax bureaux in those cities in the PRC.
Accordingly, significant judgements are required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on the management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group’s
basis of organisation is determined based on three main operations:
property development, property investment and other operations,
that comprises mainly hotel and property management. Similarly, the
Group's reportable and operating segments, reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company, the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
also focused on these three main operations. For the property
investment segment, it includes business activities of a listed property
investment subsidiary. No reportable and operating segments of the
listed property investment subsidiary are separately presented as
its results, assets and liabilities are prepared and reviewed together
with the Group’s other property investment activities for the internal
performance assessment purposes.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results,
assets and liabilities by reportable and operating segments for the year
under review:

2017 2016

FTHET THET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HESRTIME Sales of completed properties 495,608 1,362,183

RS WA Rental income 463,214 396,695
BIERYIFEER Income from hotel and property

N E M EWA management and other operation 154,059 135,587

1,112,881 1,894,465

AE2HmMEEDMELRE D B2 EHHE R
-

There are no intersegment sales and transfers among the reportable
and operating segments.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

REBRAREEZWARBETENRBEAFTE The Group’s revenue and assets for the year were derived mainly
MEBITISCE 255 c AEBEZ D3 A « ¥ from activities carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. An
B CEBERABBRIZFLEEDIEHM analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

N by reportable and operating segment is as follows:
MERR MIERE Hith&E
Property Property Other =i
development  investment operations Consolidated
FTHET THET THET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z—tH+=A For the year ended 31st December,
=t+—-ALEE 2017
2EBA SEGMENT REVENUE
HINEE External sales 495,608 463,214 154,059 1,112,881
ES RESULTS
DEEF Segment profit 1,762,715 684,499 8,646 2,455,860
HA K Mz Other income and gains 149,944
Reep#Ez bEER Unallocated corporate expenses (247,887)
BEMAE Finance costs (153,841)
JERERE DR T Share of profit of associates 97 99,051 - 99,148
[Efh et R T Share of profit (loss) of
(E18) joint ventures 189,405 126,641 (62,827) 253,219
BRI AR Profit before tax 2,556,443
R-Z—+t&F As at 31st December, 2017
+=ZHA=+-8
&E ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 9,393,975 13,296,194 46,772 22,736,941
N AN Ey Interests in associates 214,943 2,724,402 - 2,939,345
VREhE R Interests in joint ventures 568,604 2,219,029 162,629 2,950,262
BN BRI Amounts due from associates 2,563 221,429 = 223,992
BELERR Amounts due from joint ventures 1,722,913 = 66,856 1,789,769
KEDHZEEEE Unallocated corporate assets 6,516,132
aitBEE Consolidated total assets 37,156,441
= LIABILITIES
HHEE Segment liabilities 3,848,018 2,308,773 22,078 6,178,869
PNk A== 3=1i Unallocated corporate liabilities 6,092,532
aiteaiE Consolidated total liabilities 12,271,401
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

LE S MERE Hit&E
Property Property Other |t
development  investment  operations Consolidated
FERT FHERT THERT THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE-Z—tHt+=H For the year ended 31st December,
=t+—-HLEFE 2017
Hitn& s OTHER INFORMATION
BERDEH M Amounts included in the measure of
EEIASHEETFEL segment profit or loss or segment
£ assets:
FEMENEE 2N Addition to non-current assets 1,500,381 697,208 16,471 2,214,060
e R Depreciation and amortisation 41,002 14,697 2,978 58,677
HEMFHEYWE - BER  Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off
it EE () of property, plant and equipment (233) 718 (388) 97
ERINEFEEEE Fair value gain on transfer of
REMEZ L AEBE inventories of completed
Wa properties to investment properties - 115,313 - 115,313
BEWMEAREEZ Increase in fair value of investment
#9 properties - 338,453 - 338,453
ERINERFEZ Reversal of write-down inventories of
AR completed properties 1,020 = - 1,020
BEEEREDAEEZ  Netdecrease in fair value of
FRD held-for-trading investments - - 15,444 15,444
A HERERE Impairment loss on available-for-sale
EE investments = = 78,168 78,168
HEMBAR K= Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1,633,977 = - 1,633,977
HEWBEHEBARZ Gain on bargain purchase of
Wz subsidiaries 60,856 - - 60,856
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5. DEER &) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEER MERE Hip &
Property Property Other =i
development  investment operations  Consolidated
FHET THT FET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z-~"F1+=A For the year ended 31st December,
=t+-RLEE 2016
pax:i1 ON SEGMENT REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 1,362,183 396,695 135,587 1,894,465
ES RESULTS
DEGER(EE) Segment profit (loss) 4,007,717 2,018,285 (19,658) 6,006,344
H A A J ez Other income and gains 598,314
RegnH o bEBER Unallocated corporate expenses (227,090)
BB R A Finance costs (179,817)
JE(RE 2 DR T Share of profit of associates 12,169 - - 12,169
JEEAEREEN(ER) Share of profit (loss) of joint ventures (11,850) 127,239 (25,405) 89,984
BRI AR Profit before tax 6,299,904
RIE-—RE As at 31st December, 2016
+t=HR=+-H
BE ASSETS
DEBE Segment assets 9,754,678 11,242,137 28,281 21,025,096
RE &N R B Interests in associates 428,550 3,136,802 - 3,565,352
REERE R Interests in joint ventures 265,815 1,672,105 229,410 2,167,330
NIV EN Amounts due from associates 2,563 3,925 - 6,488
BEPERN Amounts due from joint ventures 927,498 - 67,284 994,782
KeenBy CEEE Unallocated corporate assets 5,932,786
BOHEEE Consolidated total assets 33,691,834
afE LIABILITIES
DESEE Segment liabilities 4,328,502 2,053,333 9,062 6,390,897
REDEZEAE Unallocated corporate liabilities 5,249,542
&ftagE Consolidated total liabilities 11,640,439
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5. DEER#)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEER MERE Hip &
Property Property Other =
development investment operations  Consolidated
FAET FHET FHT TET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BEZZ—XF For the year ended 31st December,
TZA=t-RHLEE 2016
Hitn&H OTHER INFORMATION
BERDEH MK Amounts included in the measure of
BRI BEETEL segment profit or loss or segment
2 assets:
JEREEEZIEM Addition to non-current assets 154,239 28,090 6,729 189,058
rENEE Depreciation and amortisation 61,482 13,844 6,844 82,170
HEMAEYE - BER  (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off of
e (W) R property, plant and equipment 6 8 (134) (120)
BERINEGFEEREE Fair value gain on transfer of
REWMEZ NAEE inventories of completed properties
Wozs to investment properties - 116,257 - 116,257
REMELRBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
10 properties - 1,835 - 1,835
ERINERFEZ Write-down inventories of completed
RE properties 2,526 - - 2,526
BEBEERELAEMEZ  Netdecrease in fair value of held-for-
R trading investments - - 245 245
RS HER AR Revaluation reserves released upon
PRERERHZ disposal of available-for-sale
EiEEE investments to profit or loss - - 202,667 202,667
HEMBRR W= Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 3,937,675 - - 3,937,675
HEUWBMBLARZ Gain on bargain purchase of
Wiz subsidiaries 1,588,570 - - 1,588,570

A 28R E D BB FTBUR B MY FE3 At
MARE ST BR B - 2 EaEN (BB S
B FEREBN B (ELENER)  EPLED
BHEMPARKES - BEKAD - BAEBZ QT
REECRBM(EER) RARESELORE
P WTERTARBMITESRE RO N
HERRBBEHZFTE -

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each
segment without allocation of other income and gains, finance costs,
share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures and unallocated
corporate expenses. This is the measure reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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5. DEERE)
i EEE R

@ DT ERANREEHIINTFEE ZWARR
wEMENRERHESIE RN LIERBDEE
FHEENTEESRIA  BREFRIEE
BAEERRERUEDTNT

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

A geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the geographical location where the services
were provided or the goods were delivered, and information about the
carrying amount of non-current assets excluding financial instruments,
loans receivable and deferred tax assets by the geographical location
of the assets are detailed as follows:

HIHINEF K= FREBEERAE
Revenue from Carrying amounts of

external customers non-current assets
2017 2016 2017 2016
FET FAT TFHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
I The PRC 1,033,856 1,894,465 17,696,240 14,799,507
B Hong Kong 58,504 - 4,078,152 4,456,338
HE United Kingdom 20,521 - 748,905 -
BN Australia = - 523,560 -
1,112,881 1,894,465 23,046,857 19,255,845

FEEFZER Information about major customers

REMEE  AEBRFHRE—HINELR S
ZHANEREB W AT0%A L -

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both years.
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6. HMUWARWKsE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2017 2016
FEx T
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR B A Dividend income
— I LR G — unlisted shares 2,254 644
— WG — listed shares 999 5,633
RITIF R WA Interest income on bank deposits 36,773 25,763
FEWE 5 & Interest income from loans
WA receivable 39,443 82,917
REEETEZFEWA Interest income from joint ventures 22,252 102,952
RHEERHEERER Revaluation reserves released
FREREER upon disposal of available-for-
EhHEE sale investments to profit or loss - 202,667
FE I ERE AR Deposits forfeited for termination
[ Gilizsa of disposal of subsidiaries = 145,693
YHEE 5 W Net exchange gain 18,976 -
LT N Subsidy income 828 1,959
Hipl A Other income 28,419 30,086
149,944 598,314

7. HEKEQRZKE

REBE-Z—+tF+-A=+—HLEFERN "
AEBEER —FEM B AR 22 R EE
MOBRRERTEILE=T - ZWHEZHB
NEAREBERBEBEMAL - ARFE R
KA BIEMKY - XRPERENFEERZA
F150% 2 B - T E &R T 50% 2 B HE 77 B AR
RANHZ—AMBARRAE - Bit - REER
B ZRHEZMBARKNARNEEN—HA

By

REBE-—ZT—"F+-A=+—HLEFER "
AEBHENAEMB AR SRR TELE
=7 o o —FHM B A RN B - A
ERABEREMERE - EhWEMELRR
ABEREEEMAY - UEEKMBARRE
EBEENTEDFIEEVNEBRMSEANRS
B o B —HKE QRN B R A SR
PRI IAREM B RRRFENEDEER -
SR B A AR B G SRS MR - A
KB —REWER

7. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interests in a subsidiary and assigned part of the
shareholders’ loans to an independent third party. The disposed
subsidiary is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and holds
50% equity interest in a company established in the PRC which is
engaged in property development in the PRC and its remaining 50%
equity interest is also owned by another subsidiary of the Group. As a
result, the remaining 50% equity interest in the property development
company in the PRC became a joint venture of the Group upon
completion of this disposal.

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Group disposed of
its entire interests in five subsidiaries to independent third parties.
One of the subsidiaries is established in the PRC and is engaged
in property investment in the PRC. Two of the subsidiaries are
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and their subsidiary and
joint venture are engaged in property development and management
of golf courses in the PRC respectively. One of the subsidiaries
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its subsidiary is
engaged in property development in the PRC. The other subsidiary
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is holding a loan
receivable.
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7. HEMBAR ZWE(2) 7. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

HERFBAT : Details of the disposals are as follows:

ZEMB AR ZFEBENEERNT ¢ The net liabilities of the subsidiaries at the date of disposals were as

follows:

2017 2016
FTET AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEFaE - Net liabilities disposed of:

Y% - BENEE Property, plant and equipment 245 126,899
REME Investment properties - 153,000
SRR ES Properties for development 914,558 741,777

T AEL Prepaid lease payments on

FERHEER land use rights = 12,177
HBan—fHaghEy Obligations in excess of

‘=z BE interest in a joint venture - (198,114)
—HEeErE Amount due from a joint

KRR venture = 458,808
BRPYE Inventories of properties under

w5 development 971,778 1,239,814
EiEE Other inventories = 2,346
FEWE TR Loan receivable = 401,535
R R EMEIERTR - Trade and other receivables,

Ze RIBAR deposits and prepayments 7,208 3,597
RITHETFRRE Bank balances and cash 25,287 5,244
fEERE Shareholders’ loans (1,004,906) (1,314,348)
X5 K EADFERTBRK Trade and other payables (763,674) (386,309)
EERS Pre-sale deposits (13,056) (21,127)
SRR Membership debentures = (50,942)
B BB Interest-bearing borrowings (679,214) (865,357)
R B Interest-free borrowings = (472,329)
REEFIBEE Deferred tax liabilities = (62,887)
HEFEE Net liabilities disposed (541,774) (226,216)
IR RS Non-controlling interests - 25,665
R Assignment of shareholders’

B loans 677,743 1,314,348
& e Gain on disposals 1,633,977 3,937,675
RBEME R EFER Fair value of the remaining

TR D EA R interests retained in the

LRI ER subsidiary classified to

ZRnfBE interests in joint ventures

(B1aEi) (Note i) (627,828) -

HEFTIS I8 Proceeds on disposals 1,142,118 5,051,472
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7. HEMB AR ZWE=#) 7. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
2017 2016
F#ET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
—RANEZUERR — Cash consideration received
ReRE in current year 419,487 3,004,765
— G — Cash consideration
=& for assignment of
RERE shareholders’ loans 677,743 1,314,348
— R ARTF [ EVE & — Cash consideration received
AR ERE in prior years as deposit 44,888 732,359
1,142,118 5,051,472
EREZHEMNZ Exchange translation reserve
PE S BN transferred to retained earnings
(H15tii) (Note ii) (23,176) 23,637
SRS Retin 2 Hiu @ e Other reserves transferred to
(Kt aziii) retained earnings (Note iii) = (40,883)
HEMEEZFRS Net cash inflow arising on
A disposals:
R FUTER Y Cash consideration received in
ReRE current year 419,487 3,004,765
ELEfR R Cash consideration for
=AY assignment of shareholders’
ReRE loans 677,743 1,314,348
HEZIRITEF Bank balances and cash
MIR& disposed of (25,287) (5,244)
1,071,943 4,313,869
Hiet - Notes:

) REBEMNBARFSBESZNESEAREGEDLE
CHEXZAABEBEREAH AT —+tF
AANBZEREH - KA F 5K FZRE
547,169,000 T + BHEZEK A =FRAKLEED
A FUER

(i) FERENHBLRRAAFNNEEEER - Rt
RELFEFFEERENB AR GEIELEZRE
R SRR S B R EERERTER

R R AR AR PR A W E AR A% E
8% -

(iii)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Included in the fair value of the remaining interest retained in the subsidiary
classified to interests in joint ventures is the present value of an agreed
distributable profit of HK$547,169,000 to be received from the JV Company
within three years from the date of completion of the disposal pursuant to a
letter of confirmation dated 8th May, 2017.

Since the functional currencies of the disposed subsidiaries and the Company
are the same, exchange differences arising from translation of items to
presentation currency accumulated in exchange translation reserve relating to
the disposed subsidiaries are transferred from exchange translation reserve to
retained earnings at the time of disposal.

Other reserves represented the fair value adjustment from acquisition of the
subsidiary in prior years.
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8. REWBHELQTzWm®
HE-—2-tFT-A=+-ALEE

A& [E 2A278,246,000/8 7T 2 B R B U ER —
RS2 F] (Tian An Australia Limited([ X%
SR 1)) FBIND41.26% 2 sk - WBETR - A&
A RLTBRMA76.70% 2 BHE + RZSRM
REAEEN—HMBAR o REBMA—
BN ETRAE  EEBEBANBMEEDE
BRE - WERSHEWESTHAEARBEBA
R BERATRMZIE  AEEBRME—
BEFFINBHBENRERBRRKERTR
MBZD - EHNREEBEL RETHER LA
SENZHNERE - EAEEEREEHT
H% - ATHBFEEZ AL BEBRAKER
& ELEEWENKE - REREBRTBMET
EE A B (B UE W 25 B9 B8 /53 60,856,00078
=

8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

The Group acquired additional approximately 41.26% interest in an
associate, Tian An Australia Limited (“TIA”), for a total consideration
of HK$278,246,000. After acquisition, the Group holds approximately
76.70% equity interest in TIA and it becomes a subsidiary of the
Group. TIA is a listed entity in Australia and its principal businesses
is engaged in the property development in Australia. This transaction
has been accounted for as acquisition of business, using acquisition
accounting. In relation to the TIA acquisition, the Group had made
competitive offer price in acquiring the shares of TIA from the
existing shareholders. The intrinsic value of the properties had not
been reflected by the market price and also the offer price made by
the Group. After re-assessment by the management of the Group,
the fair value of net identifiable assets exceeded the purchase
consideration, resulting in gain on bargain purchase. The amount of
gain on bargain purchase arising as a result of the acquisition of TIA is
HK$60,856,000.



1 5 8 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

REMB®|RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT—+F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

8. REWBHEARzWEE) 8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
RERZBMNZGFKEFEENT ¢ The net assets acquired in TIA's transaction are as follows:
RERE
WUEE A A
ZEREE
Acquirees’ NREE
carrying T
amount before Fair value AREE
combination adjustments Fair value
TET THT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Htati)
(Note i)
BB HEE Net assets acquired:
YE - BEMEE Property, plant and equipment 1,525 - 1,525
rERM*E Properties for development 522,035 = 522,035
AMEHERE Available-for-sale investments 38,282 - 38,282
BERTYHETE Inventories of completed properties 37,690 - 37,690
RS REMBEIIRR - Trade and other receivables,

B RIERRK deposits and prepayments 27,345 = 27,345
FERRZRITER Pledged bank deposits 3,721 - 3,721
RITRFLIRE Bank balances and cash 143,003 = 143,003
R 5 R HAERERR Trade and other payables (9,967) = (9,967)

763,634 - 763,634
YRR RE S (T EiT) Non-controlling interests (Note ii) (177,895)
R—REBE AR 2z Interest in an associate (246,637)
ZEWE—MMBARLZ Gain on bargain purchase of
Wiz a subsidiary (60,856)
B LRSI Consideration, satisfied by cash 278,246
WIBFTEL 2 FRE Net cash outflow arising on
il acquisition:
EXfZBEEeRE Cash consideration paid 278,246
WWEE 2 SR1T451F 384 Bank balances and cash acquired (146,724)
131,522
Mzt Notes:
(i) AEEZEBEEMMEREAREBEBAFLEEE () The management of the Group has assessed and determined that the acquirees’
ZEBERBENRIENSNEERZ AR EE - carrying amounts of assets and liabilities before combination approximate to

the fair value at the acquisition date.

(i) PANEE B B MR 2 R RIS A s i SF IR Rt (i) The interests of non-controlling shareholders recognised at the acquisition date
PR tE 2 Y EE AR 2 Al BRI FEEZ AR BER were measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair
2o value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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8. REWBHBAR ZWE @)

REBMNz FERYE  AIHEERERD R
TYEFERKRBRLZBEMNBZAAEET
Hy BN SR B SR (I B ) B L B R AT 5 Rl —
Property Valuation & Advisory (WA)Jones
Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltdi & H
IfhE - FERVEZHEIBREREBOL
MEAREREDHE - AIMELERERER
IHMFERFEZEEREIERERLEERS
ZEATIS A ESH A LERHERSME °

AEE ERERRZUWBRHE —ERFOR
BWABAASENMEREAS - BHRARR
wORREA B

WEH —FT—tF+ - A+ - REREHR
ZHARE - REEMNI B ASOR N BB T A%
2 WA SO A -

EWER—_E—+tF—A—HZEX ' XFEZ
AREBE AW AET,196,136,000/8 7T » LA R ARF
JE%F42,099,627,000/8 7T ° L ERHE A
HA®  ARWERREBEWER T —+tF—
A—HZREK  AEBENEERAREEERS
B EEARTEAIRRES -

REBE-E-AF+-A=+—HILLFE

AREBEWE T OEMBAR - FIEHAWNT

(@) ZANEEIA3,096,495,0008 7T 2 AR BUEE
B E (—MEB LT A R)490.65% 2
s o DEMERENBARZEEER
BRBEBNREMERE  VWEHERDE
B - AR GRWEEHAEBREE
TEARE - BT EME E  AEED
RE—EAERFINBEHNEREREGRE
W BSEn B ERR (D - MENREEBEIL R
EMISEREAEENENERMR o £K
EENERBEFTEE - AJ#ReFE
EZAABEBRBKRERE EL£HEBW
S - KB W B ERELA RN HE
W BB UG 25 & 58 51,588,570,000/8 7T ©

8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the properties for development, available-for-sale
investments and inventories of completed properties of TIA at the date
of acquisition of TIA have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Property Valuation & Advisory (WA) and
Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltd, the firms of independent
and qualified professional valuers which are not connected with the
Group. The valuation of properties for development was principally
based on the direct comparison and residual cash flow analysis.
The valuation of available-for-sale investments and inventories
of completed properties was principally determined by direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market.

The management of the Group considers that the acquisition offers a
good opportunity to expand the property investment portfolio of the
Group, which is expected to bring in returns to the shareholders in
the long run.

No revenue or profit was contributed by TIA to the Group’s revenue
or profit for the period between the date of acquisition on 22nd
December, 2017 and the end of the reporting period.

If the above acquisition had been completed on 1st January,
2017, total Group’s revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,196,136,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$2,099,627,000. The pro forma information is for illustration
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on Tst January, 2017,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

The Group acquired four subsidiaries, detailed information is
illustrated below:

(@) The Group acquired approximately 90.65% interest in ASL,
a listed company in Hong Kong, for a total consideration of
HK$3,096,495,000. The principal businesses of ASL and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the property investment, property
leasing and estate management in Hong Kong. This transaction
has been accounted for as acquisition of business, using
acquisition accounting. In relation to the acquisition, the Group
had made competitive offer price in acquiring the shares of
ASL from the existing shareholders. The intrinsic value of the
properties had not been reflected by the market price and also
the offer price made by the Group. After re-assessment by the
management of the Group, the fair value of net identifiable
assets exceeded the purchase consideration, resulting in the gain
on bargain purchase. The amount of gain on bargain purchase
arising as-a result of the acquisition of ASL is HK$1,588,570,000.
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8. REWBHEARzWEE) 8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
REGREHERXZFITKE 2 FEENT The net assets acquired in the ASL’s transactions are as follows:
RERE
WWEE A A
ZERE{E
Acquirees’ NREE
carrying A
amount before Fair value AREE
combination adjustments Fair value
THBT T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B FEE Net assets acquired:
Y% - BB NEE Property, plant and equipment 82,096 77,728 159,824
B Investment properties 1,121,881 - 1,121,881
THE AR Prepaid lease payments on land use

FEREER rights 22,755 15,077 37,832
AN W oy Interests in associates 3,136,801 - 3,136,801
AMEHERE Available-for-sale investments 47,146 - 47,146
R 5 REAEWERSK - Trade and other receivables,

e RIEMR deposits and prepayments 8,578 - 8,578
—MEE R AR Amount due from an associate 3,925 - 3,925
RITHEGFT RS Bank balances and cash 981,503 - 981,503
R R EMEMBRR Trade and other payables (26,470) - (26,470)
BIARE Tax liabilities (431) - (431)
REBNK Interest-free borrowings (139,823) - (139,823)
IEIEFIE Deferred taxation (147,629) (14,836) (162,465)

5,090,332 77,969 5,168,301

IR (L) Non-controlling interests (Note) (483,236)
AEWE—RHEB/ARLZ Gain on bargain purchase of

Was a subsidiary (1,588,570)
RIE - UIBE Consideration, satisfied by cash 3,096,495
WHBFTE A 2 F R & Net cash outflow arising on

Dl i acquisition:

EXfzRERE Cash consideration paid 3,096,495

WEE Z SRTTEF MRS Bank balances and cash acquired (981,503)

2,114,992

Arat - UGS B ERER 2 JFE B I R s IR FFZ AR Note: The interests of non-controlling shareholders recognised at the acquisition
BIDh 2 BB AR Z AIERBIFEEZ ARE date were measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
BFtE - the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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8. REWBHBAR ZWE @)

TRMENEBENR ZYE - BE&&E -
TiE R BN HERRREMERNRES
EHERZ R BETHEARE EE AR E
BB BEF A - BERITAERARNEH
HEITHE - WX - BFERREBAEERIEN
EEERNE  REEUEBEZERMSE
& SHRITEERER2EMSEANERENL
EREEERMREEE KA - LibfERA%E
ZIENEERZ AABETIRRERLEE
2EZHWRBAIEBHAILERRS - REWEZ
HEX2MNARFHSRARE BRI N BE
B ERKRAE D - S (HE R ) IR E R LA -
S2ERETS A REHATLEHER S -

AEBZEEBRRZEBE R —ERFHRE
A—EEENRERAREENY FER
& BRHRBERTEREENER

WHER -—Z—RF+-A -+ - HEFEHR
Z HAR - g R EE K LT B A B E U A B
FEBTFAER ZIWMASKEF - AR EBEARE
B EBER T —"F+_A=+—82
%kE  BEEERE  WEZAALEBER
W HERERRTEEAER -

BWEBR=-ZE—R"F—A—HEK ' AFEZ
REEE B A A1,949,958,000/8 7T » ARG
&% F45,770,010,000/8 7T ° & ERHE A
BAR  UWRIWIERTEWENR =T —"F—
A—AZTK AEENEERAREERERS
TR AEBERARTERIRRESLS -

8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease
payments on land use rights and investment properties of ASL and its
associates at the date of acquisition of ASL have been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by DTZ Cushman &
Wakefield Limited, a firm of independent and qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation of property,
plant and equipment was principally based on the depreciated
replacement cost approach by considering the costs to reproduce or
replace in new condition the assets appraised in accordance with the
current market prices for similar assets, with allowance for accrued
depreciation and also make reference to the market approach. The
fair value of prepaid lease payments on land use rights was principally
based on direct comparison approach by making reference to
comparable transactions as available in the locality. The valuation of
investment properties was principally determined by capitalising the
net rental income with due allowance for outgoing and reversionary
income potential or where appropriate by direct comparison approach
by making reference to comparable sales transactions as available in
the relevant market.

The management of the Group considers that the acquisitions offer a
good opportunity to expand the property investment portfolio of the
Group with a consideration at a discount, which is expected to bring
in returns to the shareholders in the long run.

No revenue or profit was contributed by ASL and its subsidiaries
to the Group’s revenue or profit for the period between the date of
acquisition on 22nd December, 2016 and the end of the reporting
period. The fair value adjustments are made based on the financial
statements of ASL as at 31st December, 2016 as in the opinion of
our management, there were no material differences between the
fair value of the properties as at acquisition date and the end of the
reporting period.

If the above acquisition had been completed on 1st January,
2016, total Group’s revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,949,958,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$5,770,010,000. The pro forma information is for illustration
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on Tst January, 2016,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.
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ESED ) PNl 6 E D)

BINZIBR 5 BFEIA315,400,00078 T2 X
BUWE—FNBARNAREZR  HAe%
TEZXFURTENSE RS - BINE
T8 5 A 1A100,700,00078 7T 2 BB YRS
MERBARNMEER RRRER - Z
WEMBRARIFEYWEKREER - 25X
SEWEEENEE -

HibR B FEENT ¢

8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Another three transactions included the acquisition of the entire
interest in one subsidiary for a consideration of HK$315,400,000
and its joint venture is holding golf courses in the PRC. The other
two transactions were the acquisition of the entire interests in
two subsidiaries and shareholders” loans for a total consideration
of HK$100,700,000. The two subsidiaries are holding property
investment projects. These transactions are accounted for as
acquisitions of assets.

The net assets acquired in the other transactions are as follows:

FAT
HK$’000
P FEE Net assets acquired:
M - BB ERE Property, plant and equipment 258
KREME Investment properties 123,664
RE LB #ER Interests in joint ventures 258,422
R 5 REMEUERR - e & Trade and other receivables, deposits and
TR prepayments 1,689
—HAaEDERK Amount due from a joint venture 62,992
— A IR R R Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder 9
RITHEEFERRE Bank balances and cash 13,024
fRERE R Shareholders’ loans (32,473)
R 5 R H M ER R Trade and other payables (1,536)
IEETS IR Deferred taxation (23,265)
402,784
IR Non-controlling interests (19,157)
BERRER Settlement of shareholders’ loans 32,473
KRB - ARSI Consideration, satisfied by cash 416,100
WHEESZREFR Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions:
BEXftzReRE Cash consideration paid 416,100
B 2 RITEFT MRS Bank balances and cash acquired (13,024)

403,076
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9. BEXRA 9. FINANCE COSTS
2017 2016
THET AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MERT : Interest on:
RITEN Bank loans 183,085 235,927
HER Other loans 2,725 5,875
ERLHE Loans arrangement fee 58 9,699
FEnB B EEE Imputed interest expenses on
ZIEERE non-current membership
/A debentures - 515
185,868 252,016
i BERER Less: amount capitalised
ERPYE on properties under
R development (32,027) (72,199)
153,841 179,817
10. B8 10.TAXATION
2017 2016
THExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
XHBLE The charge comprises:
REATHIA Current tax
—BBNEH — Hong Kong Profits Tax 4,546 -
— BN — Overseas Tax 4,547 -
— B EFREH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 157,121 441,976
— T B ER - LAT 80,266 25,606
246,480 467,582
BAEFEGERERR)BEBETR (Over) under provision in prior
years
—BENEH — Hong Kong Profits Tax (29) -
— BRI — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (2,870) 7,079
— L HIEER — LAT = (23)
(2,899) 7,056
243,581 474,638
RIETRIA(H15238) Deferred tax (note 38) 220,756 117,018
464,337 591,656
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10. BLH (%)

FEMNERIRIRAE 2 (At R R AELA16.5%
ZHEFE - RECEASEHRRENBARE
AM KRG ERE - BINIEREZTRBERZH
TTERR R R -

RIERBECEMENERPRCEMSHEAE
MelEpl - R —ZEENFE—F—Hi#E - PR B
NEIHFE A25% °

TIIRE R 2 Bt TR AR R P B AR S 5k 51 P
FIZRERE B ENRBEEREIIETE
R FFRRERRIE REHE -

RO BEHBMERBEEER 2 BE BAME
2008 155 - BEZZEENF— A —RHMUK - R
BIAK A 2 T B A RIPTE AR T 2K T IEE RI%
EE W BABMT B TSR AR R
DEREREAFEIN27IEERIINRRELEN
INBEERHEEHmMAEIIEERINEIEE
PERINAPERDEERIEN - KDIRAF
ZIEFETR B X H69,418,0007 7T 12 62,251,000
BITEARIEABRE-_E—+ER-E—RE
+=ZA=t+—HILEFEZHFEBERA -

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year. The PRC Enterprise Income
Tax is calculated at the rates applicable to respective subsidiaries.
Overseas Tax is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the relevant countries.

Under the Laws of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax Law and
Implementation Regulation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax
rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st January, 2008
onwards.

The provision for LAT is calculated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend
distributed out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC to “non-residential” investors since Tst January, 2008
shall be subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax and which held by
the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law
Concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises
and Article 91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Income Tax Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises
and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred tax charge of HK$69,418,000 and
HK$62,251,000 on the undistributed earnings have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31st
December, 2017 and 2016 respectively.
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10. %18 (&) 10.TAXATION (CONTINUED)
REEMBELTHEGEAEBRRAEN ZHE  The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the
s consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:
2017 2016
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRIERT R A Profit before tax 2,556,443 6,299,904
REAEHRE25%TE Tax at the domestic income tax
IE (M) rate of 25% (Note) 639,111 1,574,976
fEiEEE AR A EREENZ Tax effect of share of profit of
FRIE R & associates and joint ventures (88,092) (25,538)
Ik Tax effect of expenses not
MBS deductible for tax purpose 57,964 76,871
FERTIAZ Tax effect of income not taxable
HIETE for tax purpose (343,466) (516,358)
REERTIEE B R AM Tax effect of tax losses and
AHRERERZ other deductible temporary
IR A differences not recognised 101,810 156,544
B ARERTIIE Tax effect of utilisation of taxes
B 18 I EL AT 4R losses and other deductible
BRERY temporary differences
HIETE previously not recognised (58,096) (62,843)
MEBARTEBIE 2 Effect of different tax rates of
TE subsidiaries (38,534) (669,223)
ROIRER 2 Withholding tax on undistributed
TERRH earnings 69,418 62,251
THIRER 2 2 Effect of LAT 127,755 (10,853)
BEFE (BREEHE) (Over) underprovision in prior
BETE years (2,899) 7,056
Hity Others (634) (1,227)
REEHIAXZ H Tax charge for the year 464,337 591,656

Mt : AEBER 2 BEAREIASBE FZELEHME  Note: The domestic tax rate (PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction
Z R (BIRE R EAEHRBE) - where the operation of the Group is substantially based is used.
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M. REEmF 11.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2017 2016
TET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RE M Profit for the year has been
gk arrived at after charging
G SE (crediting):
ME - BE MR Depreciation of property, plant
e and equipment 23,813 28,354
B BAER Less: amount capitalised
BRPYE in properties under
G development (2,753) (2,770)
21,060 25,584
B - Amortisation of:
Hth & & Other assets — properties
—EER interests 500 506
FERME Properties for development
(Htizi) (Note i) 35,802 54,857
T E R Prepaid lease payments on
TEHEER land use rights 1,315 1,223
ey Total depreciation and
1Bz amortisation 58,677 82,170
ETER(BEESHE) Staff costs (including Directors’
(B15tii) emoluments) (Note ii)
—FHekEMER — Salaries and other costs 177,717 150,389
—RNEFER — Retirement benefits costs 16,278 17,876
—&  BXNMER — Less: amount capitalised in
ERPYE properties under
k- development (20,461) (14,203)
BT EMAEE Total staff costs 173,534 154,062
KEREMEZ Gross rental income from
s N L investment properties (463,214) (396,695)
B RFNESE Less: direct operating expenses
HeWAZ from investment properties
REMEDN that generated rental
HELEER income during the year 88,247 103,671
(374,967) (293,024)
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1. XFEZEF(#&) 11.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)
2017 2016
TET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZEE S Auditor’s remuneration 6,370 5,174
FEZKRAIEER Cost of inventories recognised as
BRI expenses 277,515 949,292
TRIE H (e ) E1E Net exchange (gain) loss (18,976) 30,369
HE T MERAR(EER Urban land use tax included in
Hth&EEER) other operating expenses 4,328 15,091
HE KA Loss (gain) on disposal and write-
B off of property, plant and
E1E (Yea) equipment 97 (120)
R REFZ Operating lease charges in
REHEER respect of land and buildings 8,564 7,379
RIZAR Allowance for bad and doubtful
A debts 22,989 -
FE(EEE A RITRIE Share of tax of associates
(BBEREN included in share of profit of

BE A AR
s EOEHE

associates 19,482 -
Share of tax of joint ventures

(BEBRENEN included in share of profit of
BERERN) joint ventures 376,533 276,216
Hiaz - Notes:

(i) FERMFHHDABRFZEHEESHERNE
@A REERERBERNEMLERRA

iy BEIBRTTEENGEFBHRIRME12 KT
BFEENEEEDETE TESRIEARFZ
EERETZEEEAS -

(i)  Amortisation of properties for development is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant land leases, and is included in
other operating expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(i) The staff costs do not include the apportionment of management fee as
disclosed in note 12 and note 43(a) to the consolidated financial statements for
certain Directors as well as management personnel who are not Directors or
staff of the Company.
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12. 55/ E 12.DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS
BEffsEN T+ (ZF—R"F : +=fz)Z The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve (2016: twelve)
EZMEeNT - Directors were as follows:
2017
¥e/ BiE BEXE RREF

REMEN  AEzRE ATEIHR

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EZHE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme st
fees benefits payments contributions Total
TEx TET BT BT FTEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Krti)
(Note i)
HITES Executive Directors
RIEH, Song Zengbin 10 2,080 500 = 2,590
TR & Patrick Lee Seng Wei 21 3,221 3,705 22 6,969
& Ma Sun 10 3,456 2,815 306 6,587
B2 Edwin Lo King Yau 21 1,298 3,852 60 5,231
Mg E Tao Tsan Sang 21 2,028 2,850 187 5,086
BB (Hfitiii)  Lee Shu Yin (Note iii) 10 1,150 = 53 1,213
93 13,233 13,722 628 27,676

FRBERZHTEEMES TEFNEEEEARARL  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their

AEBELE 2 R - services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.
FHUITES Non-Executive Directors
FRiE Lee Seng Hui 21 6,151 33,881 75 40,128
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
31 6,151 33,881 75 40,138

FRBRZIFNTEEME T EMNKEIEAZLA LT The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their

FREWBRR 2 EE 2R services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
BEH Independent Non-Executive
Bz Directors

BI5#8 (Wf7#i))  Francis J. Chang Chu Fai (Note i) 10 86 S - 9

SEX(MZi)  Jin Hui Zhi (Note i) 10 86 - - 96

BRI (Hf7tii) Ngai Wah Sang (Note i) 10 111 — - 121

BRI (Hitii) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note i) 18 153 - - 171
48 436 - - 484

BT BN TEENE FEBRNEEER The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were

AR RAEMB AR EE 2R mainly for their services as Directors of the Company and its subsidiary.

FEkE] Total 68,298
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12.EEM <& 12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
2016
e/ RiEE HZAE RIRAEF
REMETN BHEzRe FHEIH
Salaries/  Performance Retirement
EEME  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme 4=t
fees benefits payments contributions Total
FHET FET FHET FHT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hizti)
(Note i)
YITES Executive Directors
R, Song Zengbin 10 2,000 500 - 2,510
FRE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 3,236 3,296 129 6,671
E Ma Sun 10 3,329 2,906 294 6,539
=1 Edwin Lo King Yau 10 1,040 2,752 48 3,850
ancdas Tao Tsan Sang 10 1,950 2,584 180 4,724
50 11,555 12,038 651 24,294

PlBER TESHe T RN REEEARA
RASEER 2 RIS

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group.

FHTES Non-Executive Directors

N Lee Seng Hui 10 5,116 14,670 59 19,855

BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10

B Lee Shu Yin 10 - - - 10
30 5116 14,670 59 19,875

BRI TEEME T BN REEAETL
AINEMBLRZES 2R

The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

B AT Independent Non-Executive
B Directors
Elf =y Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 10 82 . _ 92
LBE Jin Hui Zhi 10 82 - - 92
MEL Ngai Wah Sang 10 105 - - 115
BER Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 82 - - 92
40 351 - - 391

PlBRBUFRTESHE T RERREFER
EE2R% -

fiok] Total

The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as Directors.

44,560

wist

() SRENZFEABHERINTHBESZEH
A —FEERBEES -

(i) SBIFRTES  NBHBIELLE  ©FX
% CRELEARGBRATZREEN T+
f&&7 -

(il FHERER_T-—R"ERFJTERF)N_F
—tFEAATHARESATESTEN T —/\F
— A BEHE -

Notes:

(i) The amounts represent the actual discretionary bonus in respect of the
preceding year approved and paid to respective Directors during the year.

(ii) The service fee of each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi, Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms.
Lisa Yang Lai Sum are revised in 2017.

(iif) Mr. Lee Shu Yin, being a Non-Executive Director in 2016, was re-designated as
Executive Director on 15th June, 2017 and resigned on 4th January, 2018.
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12.EEME#)

FREXREBTARBTHRAR 2BE - kR
A EREE 2 S SR EERTTRERMIRG
2 -

RNEE-ZE—+F+-_A=+—8IFERE
E-E-RET-A=1+—HILEE  WES
EREE NS -

ETERH—REAAANEAR ML AT
WERBS - %A FMA R EIR AR -
CES TR ES = SENNEYNG | £ 52
EIRBASLE TH BRI E R
ZERBACOBENTS BB ERE
A -

FiEBRENREEBABRAEREE
It zREzE  WAHREE LlES -
BBl & B E44,771,0008 70 ( —Z — /N 4F ¢
23,120,000/ 7T) ' WEBIFEE LRA -

B.EERSHREEAESHE

BEME

REE_Z—tFR_ZT—F"F+_A=+—
BIEFE AEERUReMEALTE2IH 5
REBEERITRAH - BB 2FR bt
BifsE126R o

AR B 2 FH I BRIZ RT3 MK K& 48
AEEARLERNEE ZRBET - NEMF
N AEEYESMEMNE TRERRSH
ZANEERB B WEIMARER 2 B -

12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei performs the function of the chief executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended
31st December, 2017 and 31st December, 2016.

Certain Directors received remuneration from a company which
has significant beneficial interests in the Company. Such company
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group
a management fee, which is included in the management fee as
disclosed in note 43(a), for services provided by these Directors as
well as other management personnel who were not Directors of the
Company.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference to
the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of the
Group and can be apportioned to the Directors mentioned above. The
total of such apportioned amounts, which has been included in the
above table, is HK$44,771,000 (2016: HK$23,120,000).

13.EMPLOYEES” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
all were Directors and the chief executive of the Group during the
years ended 31st December, 2017 and 2016, whose emoluments are
included in note 12 above.

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individual employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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13.EERSREEAEME (2

BREEAEME

REEZTAM(ZZE—RF : +0)ERE
BAE  BER+_fU(ZT—XRF:+4M)5E
EE HEZHEEBERANLZEE - HE
—E—tF+-_A=1+—HIFE - EHEM

13.EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the sixteen (2016: sixteen) senior management of the Group,
twelve (2016: twelve) were the Directors whose emoluments are
included in the disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining
four (2016: four) for the year ended 31st December, 2017 were as

(Z2—RF - mfOALTZBES0T - follows:

2017 2016
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
e REHAEF Salaries and other benefits 4,431 4,164

SRR Performance related incentive
®/e payments 3,948 2,693

R FETE Retirement benefits scheme
R contributions 250 266
8,629 7,123
ZATZHEMHAT Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2017 2016
EEZH EEZE
Number of Number of
employees employees
1,000,000/ 708k LA~ HK$1,000,000 or below 1 1
1,000,0017C-1,500,000/% 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 2
1,500,001 7T-2,000,00078 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 -
3,500,001 7T-4,000,0007%8 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 1
4,500,001/ 7T-5,000,0007%8 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 -

BREERABKBZBENAFRIEZRD
REBABZBABR | —ERHEE -

The biographies of members of the senior management are disclosed
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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14. 8RBT 14.EARNINGS PER SHARE
RArRREN 2 FREAREFTHIE T5EIE  The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
FTE owners of the Company is based on the following:
2017 2016
FTET THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
87 Earnings
BT BEFIER Earnings for the purpose of basic
B2 A earnings per share (profit for
(RRABIIRERIEL the year attributable to owners
KEFEmF) of the Company) 2,054,142 5,712,954
2017 2016
T Tz
000 ‘000
BE Number of shares
AUGEERR Number of ordinary shares in
BERBNZ issue during the year for the
REFEET purpose of basic earnings per
Bl share 1,506,769 1,506,769

RZZ—tFER_ZT—R"FE  I8E2%] No diluted earnings per share for both 2017 and 2016 were presented
FBRETEZF  ARR-_ZFT—tFENK=ZF as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2017 and
—ANFERIEEHITEINEE LB 2016.
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15. R & 15.DIVIDEND
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REFEEAERD KL Dividend recognised as
IR distributions during the year:
BRI EA—E £ Special dividend paid in form
M ARl Bt Ik of distribution of shares in a
ZE—RF | listed subsidiary (2016: Nil)
(Bzz) (Note) 489,700 -
TE-RFUELNRERE No interim dividend for 2016
(Z2—REF  BNZZ—1FZ paid (2016: for 2015 paid of
FIX15810) HK15 cents per share) = 226,015
489,700 226,015
EE kI HRE Interim dividend declared of
BAR20%811 HK20 cents (2016: Nil)
(ZFB—RF  |\) per share 301,354 -
I 18 S 5 3 LA — A No special dividend declared in
B AR 2D form of distribution of shares in
DI RIPE a listed subsidiary
(ZZT—7NF  PE32.55) (2016: HK32.5 cents per share) - 489,700
301,354 489,700

RFEHRE  EFSEMREHE_ZT—+
F+-F=1+—HItHBFE 2R RS
2081U(ZF—RF : &) o

et - RBZE—Z—+F+-A=+—HItHBPHEA 2

INBRBE—_E—AFt A=t RAILHEKREF
EZRERIRE - THIEIEHE 1000 A A AR G5 #
DIR13REFHERD ([EMDIR]) 2 FEE - A
BEMH KA IR R EHE (KRR ZIEEEH B
AT]) 2 195,880,034 A% 17 ([EEEHIERMD ]) -
R EEHERG B E2.5B T (AARRRE
T—NE AR EMERR2. 758 T2 K iEE
BADEMERSD @ Wit REIFHMES KSR
R E R 25 B L 2 S RIRR BAEFARE) - UE
Y53 Ik 2 28 75 b 2E AR 17 48 B 40 /489,700,000 7
T AERNE32. 5812 DR

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the interim dividend
of HK20 cents (2016: Nil) per share in respect of the financial year
ended 31st December, 2017 has been declared by the Board.

Note: A special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034 shares in
ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (“ASL Shares”) on the
basis of 13 ASL Shares for every 100 shares of the Company (“Distribution
in Specie”) in respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2016 has
been paid during the year ended 31st December, 2017. Based on the price
HK$2.5 per ASL Share (being the price of HK$2.75 per ASL Share at which
the Company acquired the ASL Shares in 2016 and adjusted by the special
dividend of HK25 cents per ASL Share declared by ASL), the aggregate
value of the ASL Shares to be distributed under the Distribution in Specie
was approximately HK$489,700,000, which represented a distribution of
approximately HK32.5 cents per share of the Company.
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16. 1% - BMERRZE 16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
EBER
EZREAN EHEZ % Fil
THRET RERNZ RERRE
Land and BEARS Leasehold
buildings in the Golf course  improvements,
Hong Kong and in the PRC furniture, AE
PRC on medium- on medium- fixtures and Motor -
term lease term lease equipment vehicles Total
TiBr THL T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HAE CosT
i b =! At st January, 2016 243,141 148,105 179,593 39,043 609,882
[E5 A% Exchange adjustments (12,473) (2,091) (6,502) (1,067) (22,133)
BE Additions 1,837 - 8,489 2,119 12,445
KRB R AmG (Hits) Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 8) 157,890 - 1,263 929 160,082
ERDEARE Reclassified as held for sale - - (297) (922) (1,219)
SHERENE Transfer to investment properties (407) - - - (407)
E R Disposals and write-off - - (524) (1,789) (2,313)
PHERBRRSIUEREAM27) Derecognised on disposals of subsidiaries (note 7) (29,593) (146,014) (14,827) (465) (190,899)
WZE-~E+-A=1+—H At 31st December, 2016 360,395 - 167,195 37,848 565,438
[ERAE Exchange adjustments 9,181 - 4,844 1,307 15,332
BE Additions 1,316 - 16,435 4,027 21,778
WE—ENBARIMEREHE8)  Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 8) - - 179 1,346 1,525
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (151,233) - - - (151,233)
ERECRINERE Transfer from inventories of properties completed 63 - - - 63
& Rt Disposals and write-off (83) - (1,104) (3,844) (5,031)
RZE-+F+ZA=1T-H At 31st December, 2017 219,639 - 187,549 40,684 447,872
e DEPRECIATION
WZE-~FE-F—H At st January, 2016 34,671 44,751 103,015 29,330 211,767
BN A= Exchange adjustments (1,803) (669) (3,863) (519) (6,854)
REEFE Provided for the year 5,019 2,607 17,690 3,038 28,354
BN BAEE Reclassified as held for sale - - (213) (753) (966)
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (22) - - - (22)
R E R Eliminated on disposals and write-off - - (481) (1,717) (2,198)
REEHB ARG (i27) Eliminated on disposals of subsidiaries (note 7) (7,385) (46,689) (9,926) - (64,000)
RZE-"F+-A=1+—H At 31st December, 2016 30,480 - 106,222 29,379 166,081
B3 AE Exchange adjustments 1,431 - 3,447 963 5,841
AEER Provided for the year 5,483 - 15,496 2,834 23,813
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (2,537) - - - (2,537)
R E Rt F MR Eliminated on disposals and write-off (65) - (1,009) (3,123) (4,197)
RZE—+&+-A=1-H At 31st December, 2017 34,792 - 124,156 30,053 189,001
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-B-+E+=-A=+-H At 31st December, 2017 184,847 - 63,393 10,631 258,671
RZE-~ETZA=T-H At 315t December, 2016 329,915 - 60,973 8,469 399,357
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17. REY = 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2017 2016
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
DREE FAIR VALUE
n—HA—H At 1st January 10,862,281 10,037,160
ME 3 5 28 Exchange adjustments 530,587 (593,623)
BE Additions 694,722 27,255
Wi — M A 7 Acquired on acquisition of a
mES subsidiary = 1,245,545
W - BB M Transferred from property, plant
HEEA and equipment 156,749 473
L3 AR 2 FANE Transferred from prepaid lease
A payments on land use rights 21,553 11
R E B A Rl Eliminated on disposals of
R (B15E7) subsidiaries (note 7) = (153,000)
HE Disposals (2,008) (10,522)
HERIMERE Transferred from inventories of
A completed properties 382,749 190,890
ERIVRFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of
BREWEZ inventories of completed
NREE properties to investment
Wz properties 115,313 116,257
498,062 307,147
ERARBEHEZ AAEE Increase in fair value recognised
il in profit or loss 338,453 1,835
R+=—A=+—H At 31st December 13,100,399 10,862,281
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BRERREYEA12,565,399,000/8 L ( ==
—7NEE £ 10,387,281,000/87T) Z 2B TN
535,000,000/ 7T ( = Z — /<4 : 475,000,000
PBIT) 2 BERPWYE o

AEBZEEVERBRECRINERFE
WE - WERRER T E R BENEER
ZAPE—F—tF+-_A=1T—"BZARE
EmENEEETABENEBIRESE
EERN G - EHERFEERARD=F
—NF EHERFEERARMEERTE
RAR)RERETHE - ZHETEERRKR
B%  tARTHEES AR EE R REAE
N BRIZEMNYEMNE @ HEHRE—E
YEREMNSERRLEE AR —RAEY
FRHRESEMSHESHNTE - RIS %RT
MEFE WX BERRBRIHOEREZ
BNEHEREREREYMEZYENS » [E
TERKREE - REERBERRABRZIKE
MENBEDRAKEZILERNZSENERSS
REBESFFABE D RMAZERIRT - Wt KK
REMREANZERAMESE - URRE®RT
FBEBERNEE - BEFEMAMGETALE

£ -

RIGETIEN AR BER  VENES RRE

FIEREMENNTE  FENEE - WiKH
BT -

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Included in the investment properties are completed properties of
HK$12,565,399,000 (2016: HK$10,387,281,000) and properties
under development of HK$535,000,000 (2016: HK$475,000,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of
transfer from inventories of completed properties, property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments on land use right and as at
31st December, 2017 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on those dates by Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited
(2016: Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited and DTZ Cushman &
Wakefield Limited), the firm of independent and qualified professional
valuers which are not connected with the Group. The valuation
was principally based on investment method by taking into account
the current rents passing and the reversionary income potential of
tenancies. For the properties which are currently vacant, the valuation
was based on each of the property interests by capitalisation of the
hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a typical lease term
and also make reference to the direct comparison approach. For the
properties which were transferred from inventories of completed
properties, property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
on land use right to investment properties, the valuation was based
on investment method. The valuations of investment properties
held for undetermined future use were arrived at by the adoption of
the residual approach on the basis that they will be developed and
completed in accordance with the latest development proposals and
having taken into account the construction cost that will extent to
complete the development to reflect the quality of the completed
development. There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in the prior years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

Investment properties are all located in the PRC, Hong Kong and
United Kingdom and comprise properties held under:

2017 2016

FET FiBT

HK$’000 HK$’000

KAFEH Freehold 758,160 -
KHIFA A Long lease 5,777,441 5,111,420
FR EAFE 4Y Medium-term lease 4,836,745 4,100,452
SEEREE) Short lease 1,728,053 1,650,409
13,100,399 10,862,281
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TREHREEARBAABENENEAZHW
AEEEENNEEEAREVEN L AEE

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the major investment properties are determined (in particular,

(BRIRATERNGEERERZ2H) » RAR{E the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
EAEMIDHNRARBERFIKFE(—2=4) hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
&R} o (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
rEEFRER EERER BErBR2 N
REME [NREE FEZH EL:3:93 120 DABENBE
Investment 5 Valuation Significant Relationship of
Properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
IR R 2 Y5 F=H RELZ(EMERZ) L ATELBHERELNUERRKRAE HEHREZHS
Properties in Level 3 Investment method REBUREHRANEEENARE B 2AEESE

Southern China

(term and reversionary

approach)

TE2EA:
The key inputs are:

) HEERE
(1) Term yield;

‘RS E
Rever5|onary
yield; and

S

3) ERIERHTIS
Bfe

(3) Market unit rent of

individual unit

U E X B1.75%E£6.50%( ZF—RF
1.75%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.75% t0 6.50% (2016: 1.75% to 6.50%)

BAANBUTSFEEASRARTELR
%%E’Jﬁﬁ‘ﬁfﬁ CEBREER225%E
7.00%( = F—7<F : 2.25%%7.00%)

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.25% to 7.00% (2016: 2.25% to 7.00%)

GENEeHBRERMGERUE - L&

ugxz,@t«mmu-%mm HRETER - W
ERNNRES) - FETSELEEN FNE
FhHRBAARENTEETHAEAAR
Blre6TU(—F—"F : BEHTAXBAARE
WBTERFHIAEAARRK4007T)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB32 sq.m./month to
RMB166 sq.m./month (2016: RMB25 sq.m./
month to RMB400 sq.m./month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair value

IR R Az B o
ﬁffﬁtm

Eﬂ%

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in an
increase in fair value
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17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

AEEAFE BELER ErBER2 YA
R&n= AREE FESH EEELERZY DABENBE
Investment & 7l Valuation Significant Relationship of
Properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
IR ER Y% F=R RER(AMERZE) ERATELEMREEANRERRBRAE BHkzEZEs -
Properties in Eastern Level 3 Investment method 1R Ko 5 Uk EX AR HA U A 9 FE E 1 E’J HE B AnEEME-

China

(term and reversionary
approach)

HW R E1.50%%6.50%( ZF—KF :
1.50%%6.25%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield

The increase in the

TELHA generated from comparable properties and  term yield would result
The key inputs are: adjustment to reflect the certainty of term  in a decrease in fair
income secured and to be received, of value
) THEUR K 1.50% to 6.50% (2016: 1.50% to 6.25%)
(1) Term yield;
BAANBUMSFEHSRARTELER BHKEXHES -
(2) EFEEE R MENELTE EEREER175%E AREEBE

(2) Reversionary 7.00%(ZZF—7XF : 1.75%%6.75%)
yield; and Reversionary yield, taking into account  The increase in the
annual unit market rental income and unit reversionary yield
(3) MEBIE A H TS market value of the comparable properties, would result in a
EHiveitken of 1.75% to 7.00% (2016: 1.75% to 6.75%)  decrease in fair value
(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit MSENHe L REEM SRS YEH mHEUES B
AIEREMBERNRZ(FI - BEER - & ’A/’ﬂﬁﬁtm

ERNREE) - FHMSENEENTOE
FhHREAARK2TEETFIAEAAR
B9 ZF— N BESTARBAARE
17TEEFLHAEAARRK630TT)

Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB20 sq.m./month to
RMB259 sq.m./month (2016: RMB17 sq.m./
month to RMB630 sq.m./month)

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in an
increase in fair value
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17. 88 %) 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

rEEFRER EERER BrBER2HH
R&N=x AREE FESH EEELERZY DABENBE
Investment &l Valuation Significant Relationship of
Properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
gl 2 Y% E=R RER(HAMERZE) ERATELEMRELNRERRBRAE BHkzEZEs -
Properties in Level 3 Investment method R K 5 Ux EX AR HA U A By FE SE |"?EE’] HE B AnEEME-

Northern China

(term and reversionary

HAUG 25 & B3.00% £ 6.50% ( —Z T — /N ¢

approach) 3.50%%6.50%)
Term yield, taking into account of yield The increase in the
TEL2HE: generated from comparable properties and term yield would

The key inputs are:

) THEKEEE
(1) Term yield;

2) ERKEEX: R

adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
3.00% to 6.50% (2016: 3.50% to 6.50%)

KA ABUNTSFERSWRARATELE
MEMELME EBREERIS0%E

result 